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Management Discussion and Analysis

EERENWE D

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of China
Environmental Resources Group Limited (the “Company”), | am
pleased to present the Annual Report 2020 and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 30 June 2020.

BUSINESS AND OPERATION REVIEW

The Group is currently engaged in metal recycle business, motor
and motor accessories business, car parking spaces rental, money
lending business, golden flower tea products trading and securities
trading and investment business. The Group also maintains the
green businesses of research, development and application of
technologies and solutions, manufacture, sale and trading of
products, materials, systems and services for green market
segments including the environmental markets, agricultural
markets, organic markets and green technology markets in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"”) and overseas. The Group is
developing a hotel business in Nepal and an online trading
platform in the PRC. The Group has been continuing to explore
new business opportunities for corporate development and
dedicates to develop sustainable current business.

Investment Properties

The Group holds two investment properties located at the PRC
and Hong Kong respectively.

In the PRC

The Company holds 80% interest of the PRC's investment
property which is an industrial development with land lot numbers
of 1914130300339 and 1914130300340, located at
Longchuanzhou, Renzhou Village, Shatian, Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province. The industrial development comprises two
parcels of land with a site area of about 72,335.99 sq.m (or
about 778,624.6 sq.ft.) and various buildings and ancillary
structures erected thereon. The Property has a total gross floor
area (“GFA") of approximately 28,814.66 sg.m (or about
310,161.00 sq.ft.). The land use rights of the property have been
granted for various terms expiring on 15 February 2044 and
expiring on 10 May 2044 for industrial use. No business activity is
engaged at the industrial development.

The Group considers that the Belt and Road Initiative promoted by
the Central Government of the PRC and the Guangdong-Hong
Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area development will support economic
development of the Dongguan City as an international trade hub
in Southern China.
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Planning to the best usage or redevelopment of the industrial
properties had been delayed because of publication of a new
town zoning plan by the Dongguan government authority. Under
the new zoning plan a new highway was being mapped and part
of the land of the industrial properties would be used as or
affected by an exit and its connected roads from the highway for
Shatian Town. The Group had petitioned to the Dongguan City
government authorities requesting amendments to the plan to save
the industrial properties from being affected. The Dongguan City
government authorities have not yet concluded our petition and
the Group will closely monitor the development and work on the
best possible solution in the circumstances.

In Hong Kong

The Group holds 100% interest of Hong Kong investment
property which comprises 95 car parking spaces with Inland Lot
No. 1301 where 72 car parking spaces are located at 2nd Floor to
4th Floor of Harbour View Garden and 23 car parking spaces are
located at 3th Floor, Tower Ill, Harbour View Garden, No. 2
Catchick Street, Hong Kong.

The car parking spaces are held under Government Lease for a
term of 999 years commencing on 24 June 1892 and are leased
out for parking fee income.

The car parking spaces continued to provide a stable revenue and
cash flow to the Group. However, for the year ended 30 June
2020, rental income recorded was approximately HK$3,696,000
(2019: approximately HK$3,891,000).

Biological Assets

By way of a forestry management and undertaking agreement, the
Group through its wholly-owned subsidiary acquired timber cutting
right over a plantation land of approximately 30,000 mu (Chinese
Mu) in Shihezi City, Xinjiang (the “Plantation Land”) for a period
of 30 years commencing on 1 July 2008.

In the process of valuing the biological assets planted at the
Plantation Land, Roma Appraisals Limited (“Roma”) adopted the
Market-Based Approach to estimate the fair value of the biological
assets. The fair value of the biological assets was computed using
the formula:

The fair value of biological assets = (Total volume of standing
timbers x Recovery rate) x Market price of timber — Cutting cost
+ Scrap sale income
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According to BH¥EZEE(HEHS prepared by InsideOut Due
Diligence Inc., random samplings have been performed in order to
estimate the total volume of standing timbers on the Plantation
Land based on " E AR KLMBEBREFRIZERAMIER GB/T 4814-
2013”. During each sampling process, there were 20 sampling
areas with an area of about 0.5 Mu per each sampling area were
selected. The following inputs have been adopted in this valuation
based on the opinions as stated in E¥ & EH{ERS prepared by
InsideOut Due Diligence Inc.:

Total volume of standing timbers = 439,588 m?
Recovery rate = 80%

Cutting cost = 5% of revenue

Scrap sale income = 5% of revenue

With reference to observable market price of timber of similar
species in the PRC, the adopted market price was RMB645 per
cubic meter.

To determine how the different values of an independent variable
would impact a particular dependent variable under a given set of
assumptions, Roma carried out sensitivity analysis on the fair value
of the biological assets in respect of the recovery rate and
adopted market price. The results of the sensitivity analysis are as
follows:
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Absolute Change in Recovery Rate Applied Recovery Rate

Fair Value of the Biological Asset

R 2 S B 40 Y B Pt A R W & EYMEEARE
(RMB)
(AR®)
+10% 90% 255,109,000
+5% 85% 240,936,000
+0% 80% 226,763,000
5% 75% 212,591,000
-10% 70% 198,418,000

% change in Adopted Market Price Adopted Market Price

Fair Value of the Biological Asset

PRt EEE % Frix & & EYMEEARE
(RMB/m?) (RMB)
(BIABKARS) (AR¥)
+10% 709 249,440,000
+5% 677 238,102,000
+0% 645 226,763,000
-5% 613 215,425,000
-10% 580 204,087,000
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The directors are of the view that the fair value of the biological
assets is under a significant impact from changes in market price
per m?> of logs. If the market price per m® of logs increases/
decreases, the fair value of the biological assets would be higher/
lower proportionately, given that other inputs and assumptions
used in the valuation techniques remained unchanged.

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020 growth and volume of
the biological assets were affected by shortage of water resources,
soil degradation and broken ecosystem, the Group has not
appointed operator for forest plantation maintenance since July
2018 and without these basic conditions being addressed and for
cost control purpose. The Group recorded a decrease to
approximately HK$248,759,000 (2019: approximately
HK$262,989,000) in the fair value of the poplar trees of biological
assets. The Group considers that the decrease is non-cash in
nature and will not have material adverse effect on the financial
position of the Group.

During the financial year ended 30 June 2020, the Group
recognised aggregate losses arising from the major non-current
assets of approximately HK$25,002,000 (2019: approximately
HK$95,574,000). This represents the combined effect of the
amortization of intangible assets, the loss arising from changes in
fair value less costs to sell of biological assets and fair value loss
on investment properties.

Plantation Sales Business

For the year ended 30 June 2020, there was no
generated from plantation sales business (2019: Nil).

revenue

By way of a forestry management and undertaking agreement, the
Group through its wholly-owned subsidiary acquired timber cutting
right over a plantation land of approximately 30,000 mu (Chinese
Mu) in Shihezi City, Xinjiang for a period of 30 years commencing
on 1 July 2008 with which the Group is working prudently to find
the best possible use of it.

The Group had written to Regiment 142 of Xinjiang Production
and Construction Corp (“XPCC"), which is the contracting party of
the foresting management and undertaking agreement, asking for
the annual harvest quota that we can be granted over a period of
10 years. We are of the view that without knowing the volume of
timer we can legally harvest over a period of 10 years at the
minimal, we are unable to do any realistic costs and return
estimate alongside with other risks and uncertain factors advised.
We keep chasing the feedback from XPCC and are still waiting for
the reply.
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Metal Recycle Business

In addition to being adversely affected by the implementation of a
Producer Responsibility Scheme on Waste Electrical and Electronic
Equipment, slow-down of local infrastructure projects and
construction sites affected our source of waste material. According
to the publication by the Census and Statistics Department in June
2020, the gross value of construction works performed at private
sector sites in the first quarter of 2020 was down by 8% in real
terms over a year earlier and that at public sector site was, even
worse, decreased by 12.1% in real terms. This has led to an
increase in costs of sourcing wasted materials due to decrease in

supply.

During the global pandemic of COVID-19, some of domestic
construction works have suspended or deferred, the supply chain
of wasted recycle metal was seriously affected. The global
pandemic also affected the demand for treated wasted recycle
metal and their price. Metal recycle business is entering into cold
winter.

For the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group recorded revenue
from recycled metal materials of approximately of HK$12,862,000
(2019: approximately HK$46,001,000).

Motor and Motor Accessories Business

During the year, the Group maintained business on sale of super
car "BAC Mono”, classical motorcycle “Norton”, advanced vibes
absorber “Ohlins” and leading prestige tyres “Pirelli”, high-tech
brake solutions “SBS” and high-performance air filters “Sprint
Filter”. The Group has also begun sale of used car.

In view of the sharp decline in the worldwide economy after the
global COVID-19 pandemic and the increased political tension
between China and the United States of America, the trend
towards luxury consumption has become cautious, and the decline
in consumer sentiment has led to continued and persisted
weakness in the retail market. In view of this, the Group has
slowed down the business on sale of motor car and motor bike. In
return, the Group has put more efforts and resources in the
wholesale business of accessories. The wholesale business of
accessories, especially “Pirelli” tyres is relatively stable. Also, the
Group has taken cost control measures to enhance the
sustainability of this business segment.

For the year ended 30 June 2020, revenue from motor and motor

accessories business was approximately HK$55,737,000 (2019:
approximately HK$66,547,000).
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Money Lending Business

The Group operates money lending business through a wholly-
owned subsidiary, which is a holder of money lender’s license
under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of
Hong Kong). The Group has adopted money lending policies and
procedures for handling and/or monitoring the money lending
business in compliance with the Money Lenders Ordinance.

Benefited from the tightened policy of regulated financial
institutes in relation to financial service provision, money lender
plays an important role to provide financing to the market and the
Group will balance its internal resources to different business
segments and will continue to operate the money lending business
with internally generated cash flow.

During the Year, the Group recorded loan interest income of
approximately HK$2,939,000 (2019: approximately HK$2,893,000)
from loans granted to both corporate and individual clients,
representing a relatively stable development of the money lending
segment. The outstanding principal amount of loan receivables as
at 30 June 2020 was approximately HK$15,888,000 (2019:
approximately HK$23,092,000). During the Year, the Group did
not record any doubtful or bad debt in its money lending
activities.

Securities Trading and Investment Business

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the market was still
extremely volatile. The Group expected that the stock market in
Hong Kong remains volatile and will adopt a cautious approach in
making investment decision in securities dealing.

The volatility of the securities market had adverse effect to the
performance of the Group and as at 30 June 2020, the size of the
securities investment portfolio amounted to approximately
HK$1,696,000 (2019: approximately HK$4,883,000).

For the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group recorded a net loss
on fair value changes on investments at fair value through profit
or loss of approximately HK$2,914,000 (2019: approximately
HK$7,247,000).

Details of the Group's investments at fair value through profit or
loss are set out in the sub-section headed “Significant
Investments”.

Green Technology

There was no revenue on the green technology for the year (2019:
Nil).
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Golden Flower Tea Products

In May 2018, the Group had secured an exclusive right from E=R
MZECERFERARAA ("ERmMZER") for the distribution
and sale of products associated with its golden flower plantation
for a period of 30.6 years.

Despite the engagement of EREREMAKEEREER QA (a
subsidiary of Shenzhen Tencent Computer System Company
Limited) for promotion programmes and promotional sponsorship
by the Group in various private events in both the PRC and Hong
Kong to advertise the golden flower tea products, their sales at
Jingdong online platform at national level and our efforts at other
private channels were way far below our expectation. The
COVID-19 pandemic had added further detriment to our sales and
promotion. Facing with the set back and the uncertainty, the
Group has slowed down the business development of the golden
flower tea products and will cautiously review this business
segment.

For the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group recorded a revenue
from the sale of golden flower tea of approximately HK$144,000
(2019: HK$27,000).

Prospects

It is hard to imagine a journey requiring more stamina and
courage than we have experienced since we wrote in our interim
report.

In our last annual report and interim report, we stated as a starter
that Hong Kong was facing the biggest social, political and
economic crisis ever since the time she was at war. Now we need
to modify the statement to that the world is facing the biggest
social and economic crisis of this generation. For Hong Kong, we
have to add also the political element as well.

The COVID-19 outbreak has not only brought unprecedented
uncertainty and confusion to the financial market worldwide, it
also seriously affects social lives of all walks. Ever since the first
reported case in January 2020, there are, so far, exceeding 31
million confirmed cases in more than 227 countries and territories
with death toll approaching 1 million.
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At the first few months we saw a blackout of economy when
governments were painfully mobilising resources to save lives.
Towards the end of March, we saw governments of developed
countries or territories implementing extremely loose monetary
policies and offering cash subsidies to households and companies.
These decisive policy actions have prevented a deeper global
financial crisis from developing. Whilst this phase resembles looks
of rapid rebound, we believe this phase bears a close resemblance
to kind of economic rebound we typically see when an economy
emerges from a natural disaster, as oppose to traditional
recession. We believe we are now starting phase 2 of global
recovery: the stall out phase. At this phase, businessmen
worldwide begin to uncover the challenges that they must
overcome with gradual waning of fiscal support from
governments to both households and businesses. Two big risks at
this phase are the outcome of the U.S. presidential election and
whether vaccines for COVID-19 become broadly available earlier
than expected. After phase 2 which hopefully through to year end
of 2021, there shall be the final phase 3: the new normal. It has
yet to find out exactly what will be the likely structural changes to
the global economy in a post COVID-19 world. Deglobalization is
amongst the likely happens in a lot of recent commentaries. Prints
of the new normal will be mapped out at phase 2 which will be,
in all likelihood, very bumpy.

Hong Kong was at a weaker starting point before the hit from the
ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. Hong Kong was already in recession
last year following widespread disorders sparked by socio-political
issues which badly damaged the city’s image and business. Rating
agency Fitch lowered Hong King's sovereign rating from AA to
AA- in April 2020. The move was the agency’s second downgrade
of the city’s rating in less than a year.

Hong Kong’'s economy contracted by 9% in the second quarter
compared to a year ago after its recorded contraction of 9.1% in
the first quarter. Hong Kong government downgraded its full-year
economic forecast expecting a shrink by between 6% and 8% in
2020, compared to its previous projection for a contraction of
between 4% and 7%.
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Further, Hong Kong is now at the middle of political tension
between China and the United States after the happenings of
trade war, COVID-19 outbreak and the Hong Kong National
Security Law implementation. The United States enacted last year
the Hong Kong Human Right and Democracy Act, passed in July
the Hong Kong Autonomy Act, revoked in July Hong Kong's
special status and imposed sanctions on 11 Hong Kong individual.
The tension sees no sign of being pacified but, in the contrary,
elevated. Hong Kong, as part of China, has no way to escape
from the storm but to brave through it.

Hong Kong nowadays is a financial centre without manufacturing
base. Political and social stability are vital to financial services. If
the tension or geopolitical climate is further upgraded to
economic decoupling between China and United States, we afraid
that Hong Kong's role as financial centre will suffer sever impact.

The Group planned originally a hotel business in Kathmandu,
Nepal to be launched on second quarter of this year. However,
COVID-19 pandemic has gravely affected our plan. Supplies and
materials from China could not be transported to Nepal due to
locked down at China since February and the whole of Nepal was
completely locked down from late March till late July with
Kathmandu Valley area being re-locked down from mid-August to
mid-September. These locked downs have caused not only delay in
plan but raise other side issues (e.g. how tourism industry in
Nepal being affected) requiring further considerations and
problems to be tackled. We are waiting for the opening of
foreign visit to Nepal to address these issues and problems with
representative physically present at Kathmandu.

China is one of the few countries has contained the COVID-19
outbreak. The Group has recently set up an operation with 51%
equity interest of an online trading platform for agriculture
products in China. The 51% equity interest in the form of variable
interest entity was adopted under advice from PRC lawyers in
order to be legal and overcome the restrictions on foreign
investments on online trading platform under prevailing laws,
regulations and practice in China and allow the Group to gain
control with economic interest and benefits over the operation.
We are optimistic on this new business segment.

The Group has taken cost control measures and made efforts to
reduce costs and overheads to preserve working capital and
enhance cash flow.

Global markets remain sensitive to the COVID-19 pandemics,
geopolitical tensions and macroeconomic uncertainties, the Group
will take relatively conservative approach to locate sustainable
investments when opportunities arise and will pay more focus to
better existing business.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 30 June 2020, turnover of the Group
decreased by 36.8% to approximately HK$75,406,000 (2019:
approximately HK$119,387,000), on the contrary, gross profit of
the Group increased by 2.2% to approximately HK$18,786,000
(2019: approximately HK$18,384,000). Loss for the year ended
30 June 2020 decreased to approximately HK$55,774,000 as
compared to loss of approximately HK$121,140,000 of last
corresponding year. The decrease in turnover was mainly due to
the decrease in revenue of recycled material trading business. The
gross profit for the year maintained at the same level as
compared to last financial year mainly due to the decrease in
revenue of recycled material causing the change of product mix of
the Group. The loss for the year was mainly due to administrative
and operating expenses, loss arising from the change in fair value
less costs to sell of biological assets, provision for impairment loss
of intangible assets, fair value loss on investment properties and
trade receivables. The Group considers that the change in fair
value is non-cash in nature and will not have material adverse
effect on the financial position of the Group.

For the year ended 30 June 2020, basic and diluted loss per share
were HK3 cents (2019: HK6 cents). Loss from changes in fair value
of biological assets was approximately HK$4,814,000 (2019:
approximately HK$72,769,000). Fair value loss on investment
properties was approximately HK$15,322,000 (2019: gain of
approximately HK$2,299,000).

For the year ended 30 June 2020, the finance costs were
approximately HK$2,144,000 (2019: approximately HK$749,000).
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Administrative expenses from operations for the year ended
30 June 2020 decreased to approximately HK$45,001,000 (2019:
approximately HK$61,184,000). It included major items such as
amortization of intangible assets of approximately HK$4,866,000,
salaries and directors’ emoluments of approximately
HK$15,418,000 and operating lease charges on land and buildings
of approximately HK$3,052,000. Income tax credit was recorded at
approximately HK$1,008,000 (2019: approximately HK$17,991,000
credit). Exchange loss on translating foreign operations was
recorded at approximately HK$12,423,000 (2019: approximately
HK$15,886,000).

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 30 June 2020, the total assets of the Group were
approximately HK$762,398,000 (2019: approximately
HK$785,764,000), including cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$2,951,000 (2019: approximately HK$5,551,000).

The Group’s total borrowings as at 30 June 2020 were
approximately HK$31,179,000 (2019: HK$22,000,000). The Group's
gearing ratio (which was expressed as a percentage of total
borrowings over total equity) was 5.4% as at 30 June 2020
(2019: 3.4%).

As at 30 June 2020, the Group’'s net assets amounted to
approximately HK$577,732,000 (2019: approximately
HK$645,929,000).

The directors of the Company are of the view that the Group has
sufficient working capital to finance its operations and to meet its
financial obligations as and when they fall due in the foreseeable
future.
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Significant Investments

As at 30 June 2020, the Group held approximately HK$1,696,000
investments at fair value through profit or loss. Details of the
significant investments are as follows:
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n

AEFFAEZE Z & & 41,696,000 7T °
EAREFHE
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Approximate

Net percentage of ~ Approximate
unrealized investments at percentage to
losses fair value the net assets
on listed through profit of the
Stock Name Note Stock Code Place of incorporation securities Market value or loss % Group %
L5 BRASKEGFA EAKEEE
FEHER BazkEz FEZEYH
iz & Wi RHKE SRAIBE B mE BOESL% %
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER
China Fortune Financial Group Ltd 1290 Cayman Islands (104) 656 38.7 0.1
REEREREEARARA REHS
Dingyi Group Investment Ltd 2 508 Bermuda (531) 61 3.6 0.01
SEREAREFRAT ARE
Wai Chun Group Holdings Ltd 31013 Bermuda (1,616) 628 37.0 0.1
BEETERERAA ARE
Hang Sang (Siu Po) International Holding 4 3626 Cayman Islands (266) 351 20.7 0.06
Cold BeHE
(2,517) 1,696 100 0.29
Notes: Wit -
1. China Fortune Financial Group Limited is a Hong Kong-based investment 1. FHERCREEEGRAR NDATEREM

holding company principally engaged in financial businesses. The
Company operates through six segments. The Corporate Finance
segment engages in the provision of corporate finance services. The
Brokerage and Margin Financing segment engages in securities business
and margin financing business. The Money Lending and Factoring
segment engages in the provision of money lending and factoring
services. The Asset Management segment engages in the provision of
asset management and advisory services to professional investors. The
Consultancy and Insurance Brokerage segment engages in the provision
of consultancy services and insurance brokerage services. The Proprietary
Trading segment engages in the proprietary trading of securities. No
dividend was received for the year ended 30 June 2020. According to its
latest published financial statements, it had a net asset value of
approximately HK$323,514,000 as at 31 March 2020.
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Dingyi Group Investment Limited is an investment holding company
principally engaged in the business of loan financing. Together with its
subsidiaries, the Company operates business through its five segments.
The Loan Financing Business segment is involved in the loan financing
through its surplus funds. The Properties Development Business segment
is involved in the construction and sale of properties. The Food and
Beverages Business segment is involved in the operation of a restaurant
in Beijing, China. The Securities Trading Business segment is involved in
the investment of securities trading business. And the Other Business
segment. In addition, the Company is also involved in the trading of
wine. No dividend was received for the year ended 30 June 2020.
According to its latest published financial statements, it had a net asset
value of approximately HK$1,215,833,000 as at 31 March 2020.

Wai Chun Group Holdings Limited is an investment holding company
mainly engaged in the sale of mobile phones and electronic
components. Along with subsidiaries, the Company operates its business
through three segments. The General Trading segment is engaged in the
distribution of mobile phones and electronic components. The Service
Income segment is involved in the design, consultation and
manufacturing of information system softwares and provides related
management training services. The Sales and Integrated Services segment
is engaged in the sale of computer and communication systems and
provides related integration services. In addition, the Company also
provides telecommunications infrastructure solution services. No dividend
was received for the year ended 30 June 2020. According to its latest
published financial statements, it had net liabilities of approximately
HK$192,668,000 as at 31 March 2020.

Hang Sang (Siu Po) International Holding Company Limited is an
investment holding company. The Company is principally engaged in the
manufacturing and sale of apparel labels and packaging printing
products. The Company’s products include hangtags, size tapes, labels,
such as woven labels, heat transfer labels and printed labels, header
cards, stickers, price tickets, plastic packaging bags and packaging
boxes. Its subsidiaries include Hang Sang (Siu Po) Holding Limited, Hang
Sang (Siu Po) Press Company Limited and A W Printing & Packaging
Limited. Dividend income of approximately HK$28,000 was received
during the year. According to its latest published financial statements, it
had a net asset value of approximately HK$86,005,000 as at
31 December 2019.

Employment and Remuneration Policy

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had 65 (2019: 53) employees. The
Group implements remuneration policy, bonus and share option
scheme to ensure that pay scales of its employees are rewarded
on a performance related basis within the general framework of
the Group’s remuneration.

Charges on the Group Assets

Details of the charges of assets of the Group are set out in note
18 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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Dividend

The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment of
any dividend in respect of the year ended 30 June 2020 (2019:
Nil).

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rate

Most of the transactions, income and expenditure of the Group
are denominated in United States dollar (“USD”) and Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$").

Since HK$ remains pegged to USD, the Group does not foresee a
substantial exposure in exchange rate.

No hedging or other arrangements to reduce the currency risk
have been implemented.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 30 June 2020, the directors of the Company are not aware
of any material contingent liabilities.

Yeung Chi Hang
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 September 2020
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Biographical Details of Directors

é%%ﬁ

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang, aged 41, was appointed as Executive
Director on 16 January 2014. Mr. Yeung was also appointed as
the Chairman and chief executive officer of the Company on
27 January 2015. Mr. Yeung is a substantial shareholder of the
Company. Mr. Yeung studied at Camosun College, Canada and
has over 10 years of experience in investment, hotel management
and in operating entertainment businesses.

Mr. Leung Kwong Choi, aged 64, was appointed as Executive
Director on 6 October 2008. He is also the Chairman of the
investment committee of the Company. Mr. Leung holds a
Bachelor of Social Science Degree from the Chinese University of
Hong Kong. He had been working for 10 years in the marketing
department of Hang Lung Development Ltd. since graduation. Mr.
Leung had also served the positions of executive director of Top
Glory Holdings Ltd., China Food Ltd., Cheung Tai Hong Holdings
Ltd., and an independent non-executive director of Top Spring
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 3688), all of which are
companies with shares listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. Mr. Leung has over 28 years of real estate and
business experience in Hong Kong and the PRC concentrating in
property investment and development, acquisition and merger,
deal marking and investment projects arrangement. He was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Rainbow
Department Store Co., Ltd (stock code: 00241957) with effect
from 19 September 2019.

Mr. Wong Po Keung, aged 49, was appointed as Executive
Director on 30 September 2013. He is also the director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company, the financial controller and a
member of the investment committee of the Company. Mr. Wong
holds a Master degree in business administration from the
University of South Australia. He is a fellow member of both the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has ample
experience in auditing, accounting, financial management and
company secretarial practices in respect of listed companies. He
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of FSM
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1721) with effect from 8 April
2020.
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Mr. Chung Siu Wah, aged 63, was appointed as Executive
Director on 14 August 2014. Mr. Chung started his career in 1976
by joining the Hong Kong Government as a Customs Inspector. He
obtained his law degree with honour at the University of London
in 1986 and further obtained his Postgraduate Certificate of Laws
at University of Hong Kong in 1987. He resigned from the
Customs and Excise Department in 1987 and started his legal
career. He has been a solicitor practicing in Hong Kong since
1989. He joined Messer. Tony Kan & Co. in 1987 and became a
partner in 1992. He retired from the partnership in 2004 but
continues to associate with the law firm as a consultant till now.
Mr. Chung has over 8 year experience in the hotel, gaming and
entertainment industry. Mr. Chung has also experience in the
management of listed company at Hong Kong. He was appointed
as an executive director of Daido Group Limited (stock code: 544)
for the period from 9 September 2011 to 5 August 2013.

Mr. Chik To Pan, aged 41, was appointed as Executive Director
on 15 April 2016. He is also the director of certain subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Chik has wide experience in licensing of
karaoke music products, operating entertainment businesses and
wedding service business. Mr. Chik has also experience in the
management of listed company at Hong Kong. He was appointed
as an executive director of United Power Investment Limited (now
named as China Tangshang Holdings Limited) (a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 674) for the
period from 8 March 2005 to 24 January 2008.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Kwai Sang, aged 68, was appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director on 2 March 2009. He is also
a member of the audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Wong had been an
Independent Non-executive Director, member of audit committee
and member of remuneration committee of the Company since
3 July 2002. He resigned on 4 July 2008 as he himself had a long
term personal assignment stationed in Shanghai. Mr. Wong had
completed his assignment in Shanghai and returned to Hong
Kong. He holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences degree from the
University of Hong Kong. He is a property consultant and a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Real Estate Administrators
and the Australian Institute of Building respectively.
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Mr. Ong Chi King, aged 47, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director on 27 January 2014. He is also the chairman of
audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration
committee. Mr. Ong is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Ong received
a bachelor's degree in business administration from The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology and a master’s degree
in corporate finance from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.
Mr. Ong has more than 20 years of experience in accounting,
finance and company secretarial fields and held senior positions in
finance and company secretarial departments in various listed
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He
resigned as an executive director of Deson Construction
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 8268) with effect from
29 July 2019. He resigned as an independent non-executive
director of Hong Kong Education (Int’l) Investments Limited (stock
code: 1082) and Larry Jewelry International Company Limited
(stock code: 8351) with effect from 9 November 2017 and
1 October 2019, respectively. Mr. Ong was a director of Fitness
Concept International Holdings Limited prior to its dissolution. The
said company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands and was
dissolved on 30 June 2005 by striking off due to cessation of
business.

Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric, aged 52, was appointed as
Independent Non-executive Director on 16 January 2015. He is
also a member of audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee. He is a qualified solicitor admitted to the
Supreme Court of Hong Kong and a Civil Celebrant of Marriages.
Mr. Heung received a bachelor’s degree in Law from University of
Leicester England. He has more than 22 years of experience in the
legal profession. Mr. Heung is presently a partner of Messrs. Wong
Heung Sum & Lawyers, consultant of Messrs. Tung, Ng, Tse &
Lam, Solicitors, director of Lions Clubs of Kwai Tsing HKSAR,
committee legal adviser of the Association of the Hong Kong
Members of Shandong’'s Chinese People’'s Political Consultative
Conference, executive committee member of Basic Law Institute
Limited, Honorary President of Hong Kong Guangxi Beihai City
Friendship Association Limited Standing Council and committee
member of USRC Standing Disciplinary. He was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Gold Tat Group
International Limited (now known as Zhuoxin International
Holdings Limited) (stock code: 8266) for the period from
18 August 2000 to 3 March 2015. He resigned as an independent
non-executive director of Zhong Fa Zhan Holdings Limited (stock
code: 475) and WE Solutions Limited (Stock Code: 860) with
effect from 20 October 2017 and 17 December 2018,
respectively.
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Report of the Directors

ﬁ%ﬁiﬁii

The Board has pleasure to present their annual report together
with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 30 June 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in metal recycle business, motor and
motor accessories business, car parking spaces rental, money
lending business, golden flower tea products trading, securities
trading and investment business. The Group also maintains the
green businesses of research, development and application of
technologies and solutions, manufacture, sale and trading of
products, materials, systems and services for green market
segments including the environmental markets, agricultural
markets, organic markets, green technology markets in the PRC
and overseas.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in
Note 38 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 141 to
143.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2020 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 58 to 59.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group and an analysis of the Group’s
performance during the vyear using financial key performance
indicators are set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 17 of this annual report.
Description of possible risks and uncertainties that the Group may
be facing can be found in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 89 to 95 of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group puts great emphasis on environmental protection and
sustainable development. The conscientious use of resources and
the adoption of best practices across the Group’s businesses
underlie its commitment to safeguarding the environment. The
Group encourages environmental protection, complies with
environmental legislations and promotes awareness towards
environmental protection to its employees. Several measures have
been implemented by the Group in order to promote
environmental protection, including, among others:

(i)  promoting energy saving by encouraging its staff to switch
off all air-conditioners and lightings before leaving the
office, and to utilize the timer-control function of all air-
conditioning systems;

(i) reducing energy consumption by using energy-saving light
bulbs in the corridors and the reception area of its offices;

(iii)  promoting recycling by placing recycle bins next to printers
for collecting used papers for reusing and recycling
purposes, and by encouraging two-sided printing and/or the
use of scratch papers; and

(iv) reducing the use of disposable products by, for example,
cancelling the distribution of plastic bags in office.

The report of Environmental, Social and Governance of the Group
will be available at the HKEXnews website of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited (www.hkexnews.hk), Singapore
Exchange Limited (www.sgx.com) and Company’'s website
(www.cergroup.com.hk).

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 30 June 2020 and up to the date of this
report, the Group have complied with all the relevant laws and
regulations in the Mainland China and Hong Kong that have a
significant impact on the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 75.3% of the total sales
for the year and the sales to the largest customer included therein
amounted to 48.2%. Purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 83.6% of the total
purchases for the year and the purchase from the largest supplier
included therein amounted to approximately 71.8%.
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None of Directors, any of their associates or any substantial
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers or five
largest suppliers.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group’'s management policies, working environment, career
prospects and employees’ benefits have contributed to building a
good employee relations and employee retention of the Group.
The Group offers competitive remuneration packages
commensurate with industry practice and provides various fringe
benefits to employees including medical benefits, social insurance,
provident funds, bonuses and a share option scheme. The
management regularly reviews its employee’s remuneration
packages to ensure they are up to prevailing market standard.

The Group keeps a high standard in selecting reputable and
reliable suppliers, in order to meet our own quality, safety,
environmental and product criteria. During the year ended
30 June 2020 and up to the date of this report, the Group
maintained good relationship with its suppliers. The Group has a
well-established business relationship with the customers.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend or declare the payment of a
dividend for the year ended 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the entitlement of the
shareholders of the Company to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Monday, 7 December 2020 to Friday, 11 December
2020 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of
share(s) will be affected. In order to be eligible to attend and vote
at the annual general meeting, all transfers documents,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be lodged
with Union Registrars Limited, the branch share registrar and
transfer office of the Company in Hong Kong, at Suites 3301-04,
33/F., Two Chinachem Exchange Square, 338 King’s Road, North
Point, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Friday, 4 December 2020.
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SEGMENTS INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to results by
operating segments for the financial year is set out in Note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Movement of share capital during the year

Details of the share capital of the Company and its movements
during the year ended 30 June 2020 are set out in Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the year are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 62.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company at 30 June 2020 amounted
to approximately HK$219,526,000. Under section 34 of the
Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium is available for distribution to the Shareholders subject to
the provisions of the articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles of Association”), and no distribution may be paid to the
Shareholders out of the Company’s share premium unless the
Company shall be able to pay its debt as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the

year are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of pledge of assets during the year are set out in Note 18
to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi
Mr. Wong Po Keung
Mr. Chung Siu Wah
Mr. Chik To Pan

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Kwai Sang
Mr. Ong Chi King
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, Mr. Chung Siu Wah, Mr.
Chik To Pan and Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric being the existing
Directors longest in office since their last re-election, will retire by
rotation and being eligible offer themselves for re-election.

No Director being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company has a service contract
which is not determinable by the Company and its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

The Company has received, from each of Independent Non-
executive Director, a written annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.

The nomination committee of the Company and the Board
considered that all Independent Non-executive Directors are
independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2020, the interests and short positions held by each
Director and chief executive of the Company and their associates
in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporation, if any, (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as
follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the
Company
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Number of shares/underlying shares
held in the Company

A ATRG ARk EGHE

Total interests
as to % to the
issued share

Interest under capital as at

Capacity in which Interests in equity Total 30 June 2020

Name of Director interests are held shares  derivatives interests (Note)

3= = P

~A=+H

BBy

EETEREZ

RBRALTE Bt

EEnE BEERZSH BipER IARZER EiEn (B )

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang Beneficial owner 448,364,000 16,942,817 465,306,817 22.85%
BEBELEE EnBEBA

Mr. Chung Siu Wah Beneficial owner — 16,942,817 16,942,817 0.83%
EORELE EnBEBA

Mr. Chik To Pan Beneficial owner = 16,942,817 16,942,817 0.83%
B A EnEAA

Mr. Wong Po Keung Beneficial owner — 16,942,817 16,942,817 0.83%
HIRBEE EnEAA

Mr. Leung Kwong Choi Beneficial owner — 1,500,000 1,500,000 0.07%
RESEE ExnEAA

Mr. Ong Chi King Beneficial owner — 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.05%
TFEEE E=nEAA

Mr. Wong Kwai Sang Beneficial owner = 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.05%
mEELAE EnBEBA

Mr. Heung Chi Hang, Eric Beneficial owner — 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.05%
BEBRE EnBEBA

Note: Kiat -

The percentage of shareholding was calculated on the basis of the Company’s
issued share capital of 2,036,538,114 shares as at 30 June 2020.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2020, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company or their respective
associates had any other personal, family, corporate and other
interests or short positions in shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of a new
share option scheme on 11 November 2015 (the “2015 Share
Option Scheme”). The purpose of the 2015 Share Option Scheme
is to provide the Group with a flexible means of giving incentive
to, rewarding, remunerating and or providing benefits to the
eligible persons and to provide the eligible persons with all
opportunity to acquire a personal stake in the Group and to build
common objectives of the Group and the eligible persons for the
betterment of business and profitability of the Group and the
Shareholders as a whole. The 2015 Share Option Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years from its adoption. An
ordinary resolution was passed at the extraordinary general
meeting held on 29 July 2016 to refresh the scheme mandate limit
under the 2015 Share Option Scheme. Based on 1,697,138,114
shares in issue of the Company as at the date of passing the
ordinary resolution, the Company can grant further options under
the 2015 Share Option Scheme for subscription of up to a total
of 169,713,811 shares, representing 10% of the shares in issue of
the Company as at the date of passing the ordinary resolution
and 8.33% of the shares in issue of the Company as at the date
of this report. The details of the 2015 Share Option Scheme and
valuation of options are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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The following table set out movements in the Company's share FN&REIIEE - ZE—FAFEREFSIDR
options granted under the 2015 Share Options Scheme during the HZ AR RIBERIEZ FANESH
year:

Number of Share Options

BREYE
Exercise As at As at
Capacity Date of Grant price Exercisable period 1July 2019 Granted Exercised Cancelled  Lapsed 30 June 2020
o R=B-1& - R-B-%%
B REBH fTEf 78 tA-B ERH Efff E#H EX% #A=+H
Executive Directors
HiTES
Yeung Chi Hang 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 April 2016 — 21 April 2026 14,142,817 - — — — 14142817
HEE ZE-R"EMAZtZA “T-REMA-t-REZ
ZE-REMAZT-R
5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018 — 4 June 2028 2,800,000 - — — - 2,800,000
“E-\FXAEA - \ERAREE
ZEZ\E~AEA
Chung Siu Wah 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 April 2016 — 21 April 2026 14,142,817 - — - — 14,142,817
B)# b “T S FBA-t-HE
ZE-RENMAZT-A
5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018 — 4 June 2028 2,800,000 - — — - 2,800,000
ZE-N\§~AEA - \FAALRE
“Z-\FRARA
Chik To Pan 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 April 2016 — 21 April 2026 14,142,817 — = = — 14142817
REH “E-AFBAZTZR “F-AFEA-4ZRE
ZBZRERAZT-H
5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018 — 4 June 2028 2,800,000 - - - - 2,800,000
—Z-\FXARA “E-\ERARAE
ZE-\ERARA
Wong Po Keung 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 April 2016 — 21 April 2026 14,142,817 - — — — 14142817
ARA “E-A"¥BAZtZH 2 N§OA-1ZRE
ZE-REMAZT-R
5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018 — 4 June 2028 2,800,000 - — — - 2,800,000
“E-\FXAEA - \ERAREE
ZEZ\E~AEA
Leung Kwon Choi 5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018 — 4 June 2028 1,500,000 — — — — 1,500,000
RET “Z-\FXARA “Z-\f/XARHZE

ZE-\ERARA
Independent Non-executive Directors

BUBTES
Ong Chi King 5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018 — 4 June 2028 1,000,000 - - - — 1,000,000
T ZE-N\EXAEH ZZ-N\E¥XALEE

ZE-\ERARA
Wong Kwai Sang 5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018 — 4 June 2028 1,000,000 - - - — 1,000,000
EEE -\~ ARA 2\ ALRZ

“E-\$RARA
Heung Chee Hang, Eric 5 June 2018 0.317 5 June 2018 — 4 June 2028 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
EHE —Z-\$/ALA ZZ-\EXALEE

B \FAMA
Employees and Others

EIRER
An employee 22 April 2016 0.2064 22 April 2016 — 21 April 2026 14,142,817 — = = — 14,142,817
8T S ey = “F-A¥EA-t=-HZ

ZE-RENAZT-H
Employees and others 5 June 2018 0317 5 June 2018 — 4 June 2028 39,200,000 — — — 20,500,000 18,700,000
BIREM —Z2-\fxAAA —Z-\EXAAAZE

ZEZ\EXANA

125,614,085 - - 20,500,000 105,114,085
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The closing price of the Company’s shares immediately before the
date of grant of the options were HK$0.202 and HK$0.320 on
22 April 2016 and 5 June 2018, respectively.

As at 30 June 2020, options to subscribe for an aggregate of
105,114,085 shares of the Company were outstanding,
representing 5.16% of the shares in issue of the Company as at
the date of this report.

Save as disclosed above, no option was granted, exercised,
cancelled or lapsed during the year.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 30 June 2020, the following persons, other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company, were interested or had short
positions in more than 5% of shares and underlying shares of the
Company or its subsidiaries according to the register required to
be kept under Section 336 of the SFO as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the
Company

RIE—AREWNA-+-_HE-_ZT—N\F
NARBR  ARRBREERERLE B
Z B84 W T (B 5 Bl /20.20278 T }20.3207%
7‘[[0

RZE_ZTEFA=1H" RE AR A
é#WMMO%hhfz%kﬁﬁﬁﬁ
F EARRAIRAIRE BH5.16%C 1T
f& 17 o

BEXHEEN BEBERERNTRAER
- ﬁﬁ RN
FERERKRYG  HBAKRSRES
ZHER

RZE_FEFNA=1+H LW FAT(E3E

BEEHARARBITRABE)RAAA N
HEWBARHEERIEES XBEKAISE336
IGFEB 2L Macss 2 B KBNS %
A FHERSREAEMT :

REAABRBRERARGBZRE

Number of shares/underlying
shares held in the Company

FExATRG AHKGHE

Capacity in which

Name of shareholders interests are held Interest in shares

Total interest as to

% to the issued

share capital as at

Total interest 30 June 2020 (Note)

R-E_FE
NAZ+H#ES
BEHEET
BAZEAL
BRESZ BREERZH®H % 153 ¥ 23 HEamaE (B EE)
Mr. Chu Ying Man Beneficial Owner 135,000,000 135,000,000 6.63%
REXEAE EnlEAA
Note: e -

The percentage of shareholding was calculated based on the Company issued
share capital of 2,036,538,114 shares as at 30 June 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as Share Option Scheme disclosed above, at no time during
the year, was the Company or any of its associated corporations a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of the Company or any other body corporate and none of the
Directors or their spouses or children under 18 years of age was
granted any right to subscribe for any shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any of its associated corporations.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into the following continuing connected
transactions which are subject to disclosure requirement in the
annual report under the Listing Rules:

On 20 July 2018, Harvest Top Development Limited, an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as tenant, has entered
into the Tenancy Agreement with High Brand Limited as landlord,
in respect of the leasing of the Property for a term of 2 years
commencing from 1 August 2018 with a rental of HK$176,295
per month. As High Brand Limited is a company which is indirectly
owned as to 50% by Ms. Ma Shu Chin, mother of Mr. Yeung Chi
Hang, an executive Director, the Chairman and chief executive
officer of the Company and a substantial shareholder, High Brand
Limited is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules and the Tenancy Agreement constituted a continuing
connected transaction of the Company for the purpose of the
Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the board of
directors engaged the auditor of the Company to carry out
assurance procedures in respect of the continuing connected
transactions of the Group in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on an Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
"Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice
Note 740 "Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has reported
the conclusion to the board of directors by confirming in a letter
to the effect that nothing has come to its attention that causes it
to believe that the above transactions:

(1) have not been approved by the Board;

(2) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the

pricing policies of the Group;

(3)  were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreement governing the transactions; and
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(4)  have exceeded the cap.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The independent non-executive directors have reviewed the
continuing connected transactions and the report of the auditor
and have confirmed that the transactions have been entered by
the Group:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of the Group’s business;

(i) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favorable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 14A.72 OF THE LISTING
RULES

The related party transaction relating to rental expenses disclosed
in Note 37(a) to the consolidated financial statements was a
connected transaction for which the disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been met and is mentioned
in the above paragraphs. Other related party transactions taken
place in financial year ended 30 June 2020 which were disclosed
in Note 37(a) and (b) to the consolidated financial statements did
not constitute connected transactions of the Company which are
required to be disclosed under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed "continuing connected
transaction”, no transactions, arrangement or contracts of
significance, to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance, to which the Company or any its
subsidiaries was a party in which a Shareholder had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

The Board believes during the year ended 30 June 2020, the
Directors did not have interests in any businesses which compete
or are likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed
securities on the Stock Exchange.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 30 June 2020, the Group had 65 employees (2019: 53
employees). The Group implements remuneration policy, bonus
and share options scheme to ensure that pay scales of its
employees are rewarded on a performance-related basis within the
general framework of the Group’s remuneration.

DONATIONS

During the year,
donations.

the Group did not make any charitable

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme as disclosed in the Annual
Report, no equity-linked agreement was entered during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a
Director, in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal,
in which judgment is given in his favor, or in which he is
acquitted. The Company has taken out insurance against the
liability and costs associated with defending any proceedings
which may be brought against Directors of the Group.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, or the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained
enough public float under the Listing Rules, based on the
information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of Directors.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 30 June 2020 were audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited as auditors of the Company. A resolution will be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to
reappoint ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited as auditors of the
Company.

On behalf of the Board

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
Yeung Chi Hang

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 September 2020
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERHE

The Board is committed to maintain and ensure high standards of
corporate governance practice. The Company stresses the
importance of maintaining the quality of the Board by ensuring
that the Directors possess a wide range of expertise and the
effective implementation of an accountability system, so as to
ensure that business activities and decision making processes are
regulated in a proper manner.

The Company has complied with the code provisions as set out in
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rule Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) for the year ended
30 June 2020, except the followings:

Code provisions A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
chairman of the board and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. This code
provisions also stipulate, inter alia, the role and responsibility of
the chairman of the board and the chief executive.

Mr. Yeung Chi Hang was appointed as chairman of the Board and
the chief executive officer of the Company on 27 January 2015.
Thereafter, Mr. Yeung Chi Hang has assumed both roles. The
directors were of the view that the vesting of the roles of
chairman of the Board and chief executive officer in the same
person can provide the Group with strong and consistent
leadership and allow for more effective planning and execution of
long-term business strategies, as well as ensuring effective
oversight of management. The directors were also of the view that
the present structure was considered to be appropriate under the
circumstances of the Company. The Board would keep review of
its current board structure from time to time.

Code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code stipulates that the chairman
of the board should attend the annual general meeting. Mr.
Yeung Chi Hang was unable to attend the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 11 November 2019 due to business trips.
Mr. Wong Po Keung, an executive director, was elected and acted
as chairman of the said annual general meeting.

THE BOARD
The Board is charged with the responsibility of leadership and

control of the Group. The Board promotes success of the Group
and makes decisions objectively in the best interests of the Group.
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The Board'’s role is mainly to direct and supervise the affairs of the
Group, establish its strategic directions and set objectives and
business development plans. The Board authorizes the
management to manage the day-to-day business operation of the
Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the various Board committees and the Chief
Executive Officer.

The Company has developed a schedule of matters reserved to the
Board for decisions. The Board will review those arrangements on
a regular basis to ensure that the arrangements meet the needs of
the Company.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises eight Directors with five Executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Yeung Chi Hang, Mr. Leung Kwong Choi, Mr. Wong
Po Keung, Mr. Chung Siu Wah and Mr. Chik To Pan and three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Wong Kwai
Sang, Mr. Ong Chi King and Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric. There
was no change in the composition of the Board during the year.

During the year, the Board held 4 meetings, including 4 regular
meetings, and had also transacted its business by written
resolutions. The Directors participated these meetings in person or
through electronic means of communication. The attendance of
Board meetings of each Director during the year is set out as
below:
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The Directors are provided with relevant information to make
informed decisions. The Board and each Director have separate
and independent access to the Company’s senior management for
information and making enquires if necessary. A Director, who
considers there is necessary to seek independent professional
advice in order to perform his duties as a Director, may convene,
or request the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) to convene, a Board meeting to approve the
consultation of independent legal or other professional adviser for
advice at the Company’s expenses.

For regular Board meeting, a notice of the meeting is sent to all
Directors at least 14 days before the intended date of meeting
and an agenda and accompanying board papers of the meeting
are sent to all Directors at least three days before the intended
date of meeting. For all other Board meeting, a notice of the
meeting together with an agenda and accompanying board papers
of the meeting are sent to all Directors in reasonable time. The
Directors also from time to time transact the Board business by
way of written resolutions.

Every Director is entitled to have access to the advice and service
of the Company Secretary with a view to ensure that the Board
procedures and applicable rules and regulations are complied
with.

All' minutes are kept by the Company and are open for
inspections by any Director during normal office hours by giving
reasonable advance notice. Minutes of the Board meetings and the
Board committee meetings record in sufficient details the matters
considered in the meetings and decisions reached. Draft and final
versions of minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee
meetings have been sent to all Directors and relevant Board
Committee members for their comments and records respectively
within a reasonable time after the relevant meetings were held.

If a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter before the
Board, the matter will be dealt with in accordance with applicable
rules and regulations and, if appropriate, an independent board
committee will be set up to deal with the matter.

To the best knowledge of the Board, there is no financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship(s) between
the members of the Board.

Every Director has sufficient time and attention to deal with the
affairs of the Group. The Board considers the composition of
Executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors is
rational and appropriate and provides adequate checks and
balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders and the
Group.
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The Independent Non-executive Directors provide the Group with
diversified knowledge and expertise. Their suggestions, opinions
and participation in the meetings of the Board and each Board
committee bring independent opinions, suggestions and judgments
on issues relating to the Group’s strategy, development,
operations, performance, risk control and conflicts of interest, to
ensure that the interest of all shareholders are taken into account.

Information and responsibilities of all Directors are contained in
this annual report on pages 18 to 20.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer have
different roles. The Chairman of the Board is responsible for the
operation of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for managing the operations and day-to-day
management of the Group. Their functions have been clearly
divided to ensure a balanced distribution of power and authority
not concentrating on a single individual.

The Chairman of the Board is principally responsible for leading
the Board and ensures the Board acts in the best interests of the
Company. The Chairman of the Board shall ensure the Board
operates effectively and performs its proper duties and discusses
all important and proper matters in a timely manner. The
Chairman of the Board is responsible for convening Board
meetings, consulting, determining and approving the agenda of
each Board meeting, and ensuring that Directors are provided
sufficient information on current matters in a timely manner.

The Chief Executive Officer is principally responsible for the daily
operation and management of the Group’s overall operations and
implementing the Board’'s operating strategy and policy and
delegating tasks to all departments for implementation so as to
realize the Board'’s objectives and decisions. In addition, the Chief
Executive Officer is also responsible for coordinating close
cooperation among all departments, uniting efforts of staff and
encouraging the initiative of staff so as to ensure smooth and
effective operation of the Company’s operations and systems.

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provide that the role of
chairman of the board and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. This code
provisions also stipulate, inter alia, the role and responsibility of
the chairman of the board and the chief executive.
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Mr. Yeung Chi Hang was appointed as Chairman of the Board
and the chief executive officer of the Company 27 January 2015.
Thereafter, Mr. Yeung Chi Hang has therefore assumed both roles.
The Directors were of the view that the vesting of the roles of
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer in the same
person can provide the Group with strong and consistent
leadership and allow for more effective planning and execution of
long-term business strangles, as well as ensuring effective
oversight of management. The Directors were also of the view
that the present structure was considered to be appropriate under
the circumstances of the Company. The Board would keep review
of its current Board structure from time to time.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with the CG Code and the Articles of Association,
all Directors, including Independent Non-executive Directors, are
subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.

Composition of the Board will be reviewed regularly by the Board
and also by the nomination committee of the Company to ensure
that it covers a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.

Pursuant to the Article of Association, Mr. Chung Siu Wah, Mr.
Chik To Pan and Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric being the existing
Directors longest in office since their last re-election, will retire by
rotation and being eligible offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Each Director had entered into an appointment letter with the
Company setting out the key terms and conditions of his
appointment. The Directors are required to refer to the relevant
key terms and conditions as set out in the Articles and Association
and the guidelines for Directors and Guide for Independent Non-
executive Directors (if applicable) published by the Hong Kong
Institute of Directors.

All Independent Non-executive Directors are appointed for a
specific term, subject to retirement by rotation under the Articles
of Association. The term of office of Mr. Wong Kwai Sang, Mr.
Ong Chi King and Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric as Independent
Non-executive Director is for three years until 1 March 2021,
26 January 2023 and 15 January 2021 respectively.

The Board has received from each Independent Non-executive
Director a written annual confirmation of his independence and is
satisfied with their independence in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all Independent Non-executive
Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and are independent to the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) with the term of references in accordance with the
Listing Rules. The Audit Committee currently comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ong Chi King
(Chairman), Mr. Wong Kwai Sang and Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric.
Mr. Ong Chi King has appropriate accounting and related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10 of the Listing
Rules.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee includes:

1. to recommend to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and any questions of resignation or
dismissal of such auditor;

2. to consider and discuss with the external auditor the nature
and scope of audit for each year;

3. to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity;

4, to review the interim and annual financial statements before
submission to the Board and to discuss any problem and
reservation arising therefrom;

5. to review the Group's financial controls, internal control and
risk management systems; and

6. to consider other topics, as defined by the Board.

During the year, the Audit Committee had reviewed and
discussed, in accordance with its terms of reference, the financial
reporting matters with external auditor, including the review of
the interim and annual consolidated financial statements, the
internal control and the audit fee and made recommendation to
the Board for reappointment of external auditor.

During the vyear, the Audit Committee held 2 meetings. The
attendance of Audit Committee meetings of each member is set
out below:
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e B SRR
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Name of the Audit Committee Members

Number of Audit Committee
meetings attended/Number of
Audit Committee meetings held

EHREZZEESEERRE
BZZEERENE ERETERZEEEHERAY
Mr. Ong Chi King EFEHEE 2/2
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang BEETE 272
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BEELE 0/2
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) with the term of references in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee
currently comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Ong Chi King (Chairman), Mr. Wong Kwai Sang and
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee (as adopted
pursuant to the terms of references of the Remuneration
Committee) includes making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure of all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for development of remuneration

policy.

Set out below is the summary of work of the Remuneration
Committee done during the year:

1. to review the Company’s emolument policy and structure for
all Directors;

2. to review management’'s remuneration proposal with
reference to the corporate goals and objective of the Board;
and

3. to recommend the remuneration of individual Executive

Director and Independent Non-executive Director.
During the year, the Remuneration Committee held 1 meeting.

The attendance of Remuneration Committee meeting of each
member is set out below:
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Name of the Remuneration Committee

Number of Remuneration
Committee meetings attended/
Number of Remuneration
Committee meetings held
EHEFWNESSTERRE
ERTHMNESTEHRAE

Members

FMEESERENS

Mr. Ong Chi King FFEEE
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang BEEAERE
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BEERE
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The Company’s emolument policy is to ensure that the
remuneration offered to employees, including Executive Directors
and the senior management, is based on the skills, knowledge,
responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s affairs. The
remuneration packages are also determined by reference to the
Company’s performance and profitability, remuneration level in the
industry and the prevailing market conditions. The emolument
policy for Independent Non-executive Directors, mainly comprising
Directors’ fees, is subject to annual assessment with reference to
the market standard. Individual Director and the senior
management would not be involved in deciding their own
remuneration.

Details of emoluments of Directors and the five highest-paid
employees of the Group during the year are set out in Note 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board has established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) with the term of references in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee
currently comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Ong Chi King (Chairman), Mr. Wong Kwai Sang and
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee includes review
of the structure, size and composition of the Board and board
diversity policy on a regular basis, assessing new candidates for
appointment as Directors and the independence of Independent
Non-executive Directors and considering the retirement and re-
election of the Directors.

Set out below is the summary of work of the Nomination
Committee done during the year:

1. to assess the independence of each Independent Non-
executive Director;

2. to review the structure, size and composition of the Board;
and

3. to make the recommendation of re-election of retiring
Directors to the Board.
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During the year, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting. The
attendance of Nomination Committee meetings of each member is
set out below:

A A =]
N A= =

T
BAEIMT :

FR RHZEGRT
Ee2e®

#
hEREZ8E

Name of the Nomination Committee

Number of Nomination
Committee meetings attended/
Number of Nomination

Members Committee meetings held
CHERZZEEEHHRNX ﬂ/
REZZEEHENRSZ EERTRZZEEFEHRAH
Mr. Ong Chi King FFaRESE 11
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang mEESLE 11
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric E B LA 0/1
NOMINATION POLICY R’ EBR
The Board has also adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination EZZE€NCHFMIEZHE(RLZKE])

Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and procedure of
appointing and re-appointing a Director. The selection criteria
used in assessing the suitability of a candidate include, inter alia,
such candidate’s academic background and professional
qualifications, relevant experience in the industry, character and
integrity etc.

Pursuant to the Nomination Policy, the nomination committee
reviews the structure, size and composition of the Board
periodically and make recommendation on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.
When it is necessary to fill a casual vacancy or appoint an
additional director, the nomination committee identifies or selects
candidates as recommended to the committee pursuant to the
criteria set out in the Nomination Policy. Based upon the
recommendation of the nomination committee, the Board
deliberates and decides on the appointment. In addition, every
director shall be subject to retirement by rotation or re-election at
least once every three years and shall be eligible for re-election at
each annual general meeting. The nomination committee shall
review the overall contribution and service to the Company,
expertise and professional qualifications of the retiring directors,
who offered himself/herself for re-election at the annual general
meeting, to determine whether such director continues to meet
the criteria as set out in the Nomination Policy.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the Companies Law of Cayman Islands and the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company,
dividends may be paid out of the profits of the Company, or
subject to solvency of the Company, out of sums standing to the
credit of the share premium account of the Company. However,
no dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by Directors of
the Company.

Declaration and recommendation of payment of dividends of the
Company is subject to the approval of the Directors of the
Company, depending on results of operations, working capital,
financial position, future prospects, and capital requirements, as
well as any other factors which the Directors of the Company may
consider relevant from time to time. Any future declaration,
recommendation and payment of dividends of the Company may
or may not reflect the historical declarations and payments of
dividends and will be at the absolute discretion of the Directors of
the Company. The Company does not have any predetermined
dividend payout ratio.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board, and sees diversity at Board level as an essential
element in maintaining a competitive advantage. The Company has
adopted a board diversity policy in 2013.

All appointments of the members of the Board are made on their
merit in the content of the talents, skills and experience to be an
effective Board as a whole.

The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the composition
of the Board by considering the benefits of all aspects of diversity
in order to maintain an appropriate range and balance of talents,
skills, experience and background on the Board.

The Nomination Committee considers candidates on merit against
objective criteria and with due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board, including age and gender and makes
recommendations to the Board on appointment of new directors
of the Company.

The Nomination Committee also oversees the conduct of the
annual review of the effectiveness of the Board and considers the
balance of talents, skills, experience, independence and knowledge
on the Board and the diversity representation of the Board.

The Board will from time to time consider to set measurable
objectives to implement the Policy and review such objectives to
ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the progress made
towards achieving those objective. During the year, the Board has
not set any measurable objectives to implement the Policy.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board has from time to time considered its policy for
corporate governance and its duties and duties of various board
committees. The Board has not established a corporate
governance committee but has performed the obligations
regarding corporate governance, including:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and directors;
and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with Appendix 14
(Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report) of the Listing Rules.

The Directors have disclosed to the Board the number and nature
of offices held in public companies or organizations and other
signification commitments. The Board will regularly review the
contribution required by each Director to perform his
responsibilities to the Company and whether he is spending
sufficient time performing his duties.

TRAINING OF DIRECTORS

Newly appointed Director are provided with necessary information
to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and businesses as well as his responsibilities under the
relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. The Company
Secretary and representative of auditor update the Directors on
the latest development and changes regarding the Listing Rules,
accounting standards and other relevant regulatory requirements
from time to time.

In addition, the Directors are provided with monthly updates on

the Company’s performance and position to enable the Board as
a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

44 China Environmental Resources Group Limited

R EQRAE

22
CREAZAR BEET FIICREA
EfE 2f:

1. HIETRBHAARBNEEERRER
B

2. BRHREREEREREEEOE
REETLBRE

3. RIRERAADEETERRES
BEFENRERES

4. HIF RO LREFREARNEERES
MBTEARERFM: &

2 AR E ST BT AR R 14 (B
EXERTAIREEERERE)WIER -

EFCMEFeRBERNAR AR RAME
ERSE B A B A K H fh 8 R HAHE o
ExeSERISESRETAREY
ARFMEEWEREERBILE EHEE
BITHE -

EE 5

MEZTNESERHEVUENER - A
REHARB N EEREH AR AR
ERCER RARKROTHEEREE
TR RAMERZBEMARTKERES
RELTHMRA - @ L REMBABES
RENTHBERNIRESHER -

BEoh - EETRER M AR A RR AR B
BAGHER UREEZSBRRELZES
BT E B -

2020 Annual Report



All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. According to the records provided by the existing
Directors, all Directors have participated in continuous professional
development during the year.

ARABBAEES2EFEERER
A B R No 5B 3T 1% 5 B RN G M BB o IRIRER
TEFRENEE  2REFERFRZ
BRIEEERR -

Reading regulatory
updates/attending
in house briefing

Name of Directors

Attending expert
briefing/seminars/
conference relevant
to the business/
director’s duties

HEAMESE B3
HERERTEH BENERENIE
EEHa EmMABEES etE Sk
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang HBEELE v —
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi RETRE v —
Mr. Wong Po Keung =IROR L& v 4
Mr. Chung Siu Wah 8D fEL & 4 v
Mr. Chik To Pan BE R %k & v —
Mr. Ong Chi King FFEEE v 4
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang EEEXE v —
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric EEELE v v
DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES ESREREENTERE
INSURANCE
The Company has arranged directors’ and officers’ liabilities ARQAREAARGTNEZEZESRSNE

insurance for all Directors and the senior management of the
Company. The insurance covers them against costs, charges,
expenses and liabilities incurred arising out of the corporate
activities.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the Company’s
Code of Conduct regarding Director’s securities transactions.

Having made specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 30 June 2020.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognizes its overall responsibilities for maintaining a
sound and effective internal control system of the Group and risk
taking is unavoidable as part of the Group’s business. By
appropriate risk management and continuous risk monitoring, risk
taking can bring value to the Company. The Board believes that
risks are acceptable after prudent assessment of their impact and
likelihood. The Company can protect its assets and shareholders’
interests and create value simultaneously through appropriate risks
management and control measures. The system includes a defined
management structure with limits of authority, safeguards its
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensures the
maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use or for publication,
and ensures compliance with relevant laws and regulations. The
system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The Group recognise that it is necessary for identifying and
assessing the significant business, operational, financial and
compliance risks on an ongoing basis. Risk identification and
assessment should be undertaken throughout the year, but in any
event must be undertaken on an annual basis by the Audit
Committee. Risk identification involves collecting information from
the senior management to identify relevant risks and then need to
update the risk register in response to changes in its business and
the external environment. Risk assessment should include the
review of (i) the timely and efficient management and reporting
the key risks; and (ii) any events, incidents or trends that have
arisen or might arise.

Risk evaluation and risk prioritization
Risk ranking process involves analysing the inherent likelihood and
impact of each identified risk in order to facilitate the senior

management to prioritise the identified risk items and identify the
responsible risk owners.
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Risk reporting, managing and monitoring

Once the decision to mitigate the significant risk has been made
and the strategy is identified, a mitigation plan should be
developed. After the plan is implemented the residual risk is
evaluated and is subject to monitoring. Once the plan is in place
and the system is running, the effectiveness of the plan will be
monitored, reviewed and adjusted if necessary. The ongoing
monitoring program will be checked if risk priority numbers have
changed to either higher or lower values. All employees can write
down observations and to make recommendations. They can also
make a recommendation if the change should be implemented
urgently if it is time critical. The senior management evaluates the
recommendations made by the employees and reports to board in
timely manner.

Procedures for the handling and dissemination of
inside information

The Group is committed to a consistent practice of time, accurate
and sufficiently detailed disclosure of material information. To
ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach of a
disclosure relation to the Group, which include but not limited by
the following ways:

1. When any employee becomes aware of any actual or potential
Inside Information, he/she must immediately inform any
member of the Disclosure Working Group comprising the
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and Legal
Counsel.

2. Meeting of Disclosure Working Group shall be convened to
conduct preliminary assessment of the information received.

3. The Disclosure Working Group reviews and decides whether
the information must be disclosed, as well as when and how
the information shall be released and makes
recommendation to the Board.

4.  The Board reviews the recommendation of the Disclosure
Working Group and approves the issue of an announcement
and any other course of course as appropriate.

Main features of the internal control system

A professional advisory firm was also appointed as the Group's
outsourced internal audit function to conduct a review on the
Group's internal control systems at the corporate level and
business level on certain agreed control areas as stated in a three
year internal control review plan to the management and
endorsed by the board and audit committee.
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The scope of the internal control review carried out during the
year includes:

a) understand how a control procedure is carried out during the
period from 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2020 through discussion
with the management, and reading relevant policies and
procedures;

b) consider and comment on whether a control procedure has
been designed and implemented effectively by determining
whether it exists at a specific point in time. This is achieved
by reading policies and procedures, reviewing minutes,
reports, organisational charts and other supporting
documentation, and by performing selected walkthrough and
tests of samples;

Q) draw to the Company’s attention to any significant control
design and implementation weaknesses and deficiencies
which come to its attention based on the limited procedures
it agree to perform;

d) provide recommendations to address the identified control
design (in particular to corporate governance and cash
receipt handling policy) and implementation weaknesses and
deficiencies; and

e)  perform a follow-up review after the Company has responded
to the findings stated in the Report. The final Report will be
issued after the follow-up procedures have been completed.

The report and recommendations have been submitted to the
board and follow-up action has been taken based on
recommendations, which will be monitored by the board.

The Audit Committee reviewed adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their training programmes
and budget.

The board’s confirmation on risk management

Based on the risk management mechanism and internal audit
review activities mentioned in the aforesaid paragraphs, the board
was of the opinion that the Company had maintained an effective
risk management mechanism and internal control system during
the financial year ended 30 June 2020.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is Mr. Lo Tai On who has been engaged
and appointed by the Company from an external secretarial
services provider.
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The primary contact persons with the Company Secretary are Mr.
Wong Po Keung, an Executive Director and the financial controller
of the Company, and Ms. Leung Siu Hing, a senior officer of the
Company. The Company Secretary has duly complied with the
relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements for each financial year which give
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group in
presenting the interim and annual consolidated financial
statements and announcements to the Shareholders. The Directors
aim to present a clear and understandable assessment of the
Group's position and prospects.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to present a clear and
understandable assessment in the Company’s annual and interim
reports, other inside information announcements and other
financial disclosures required under the Listing Rules and to report
to the regulators.

The responsibility of the external auditor with respect to the
financial reporting and its audit opinion are set out in the section
“Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 53 to 57.

REMUNERATION OF THE AUDITOR

For the year, the remuneration in respect of audit services
provided by auditor of the Company, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited, was HK$980,000.

The non-audit service provided by auditor of the Company is
detailed as follows:
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Review service for the interim results for the six MEE_ET—NF+_A=+—HIL
months ended 31 December 2019 NEAMPREHEENERRS 210,000

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
the Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is
disseminated to the Shareholders in a timely manner through a
number of formal channels, which include interim and annual
reports, announcements and circulars.

The general meetings of the Company are valuable forum for the
Board to communicate directly with the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”). The Shareholders are encouraged
to attend the general meetings of the Company.
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An annual general meeting of the Company was held on
11 November 2019 (the “2019 AGM"). A notice convening the
2019 AGM contained in a circular of the Company dated
11 October 2019 was dispatched to the Shareholders together
with the 2019 Annual Report.

As Mr. Yeung Chi Hang was unable to attend the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 11 November 2019 due to
business trips. Mr. Wong Po Keung, an Executive Director, was
elected and acted as Chairman of the 2019 AGM. He together
with the board committees members attended the 2019 AGM to
answer the questions from the Shareholders. The Chairman of the
2019 AGM explained detailed procedures for conducting a poll. All
the resolutions proposed at the 2019 AGM were passed by the
Shareholders by way of poll. The results of the poll were
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange, the Singapore
Stock Exchange and the Company on 11 November 2019.

The attendance of general meetings held during the year of each
Director is set out below:
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Name of Directors

Number of general meetings
attended/Number of general
meetings held

EHBEBRRXERE
EEHa EETHREXERY
Executive Directors BITEE
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang CESRER s 01
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi REA E 11
Mr. Wong Po Keung EIREAE 11
Mr. Chung Siu Wah EoEE & 01
Mr. Chik To Pan BE S ST 01
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFERITES
Mr. Ong Chi King FFEEE 1/1
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang FEEELE 0/1
Mr. Heung Chee Hang, Eric BEEXE 0/1

The forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company will be
held on 11 December 2020 (the “2020 AGM"). A notice
convening 2020 AGM will be published on the websites of the
Stock Exchange, the Singapore Stock Exchange and the Company
and dispatched together with the 2020 Annual Report to the
Shareholders as soon as practicable in accordance with the Article
of Association and the CG Code.

During the year, there was no change in the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An
annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year
at such place as may be determined by the Board. Each general
meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”). Set out below are
procedures by which Shareholders may (a) convene an EGM; (b)
put forward enquires to the Board; and (c) put forward proposals
at general meetings. The procedures are subject to the Articles of
Association and applicable legislation and regulation.

— Procedures for Shareholders to convene EGM

Any one or more Shareholders holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition.

The written requisition must state the business to be
transacted at the meeting, signed by the requisitionist(s) and
deposited at the Company’s registered office (with a copy of
the said written requisition deposited at the Company’s
Hong Kong office) for the attention of the Board or the
Company Secretary, and may consist of several documents in
like form, each signed by one or more requisitionists. The
requisition will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrars in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that
the requisition is proper and in order, the Company
Secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM by serving
sufficient notice in accordance with the requirements under
the Articles of Association to all the registered Shareholders.

On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as
invalid, the requisitionist(s) will be advised of this outcome
and accordingly, an EGM will not be convened as requested.

If within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of
the requisition the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionist(s), may convene a meeting in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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The notice period to be given to all the registered
Shareholders for consideration of the proposal raised by the
requisitionist(s) concerned at the EGM varies according to the
nature of the proposal, as follows:

—  Not less than 14 clear days’ and not less than 10 clear
business days’ notice in writing if the proposal
constitutes an ordinary resolution of the Company;
and

—  Not less than 21 clear days’ and not less than 10 clear
business days’ notice in writing if the proposal
constitutes a special resolution of the Company.

Procedures for putting enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquiries to the Board.
All enquiries shall be in writing and sent by post to the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong or
by email to info@cergroup.com.hk for the attention of the
Board.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
general meetings

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the
Company, a Shareholder should lodge a written request,
duly signed by the Shareholder concerned, setting out the
proposals at the Company’s registered office (with a copy of
the said written request lodged at the Company’s Hong
Kong office) for the attention of the Board and the
Company Secretary. The request will be verified with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong and upon
its confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
Company Secretary will pass the request to the Board.

Whether a proposal will be put to a general meeting will be
decided by the Board in its discretion, unless the proposal
put forward by a Shareholder is (i) pursuant to a requisition
by a Shareholder to convene an EGM referred to above or
(ii) forms part of ordinary business to be considered at an
annual general meeting as described in Article 75 of the
Articles of Association.

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as Director are posted on the Company’'s website at
http://www.cergroup.com.hk.
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ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA ENVIRONMENTAL RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED
PRIREERKREAFARAT

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Environmental Resources Group Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 58 to 143, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 30 June 2020, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 30 June 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the "HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters are those matters that,
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. We have determined the matters described below
to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

in our professional
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Investment properties and biological assets
Refer to notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group measured its investment properties and biological
assets at fair value and fair value less costs to sell, respectively,
with the changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. These
fair value measurements are significant to our audit because the
balances of investment properties of approximately
HK$259,002,000 as at 30 June 2020 and the corresponding fair
value loss of approximately HK$15,322,000 for the year then
ended, and biological assets of approximately HK$248,759,000 as
at 30 June 2020 and the corresponding loss from changes in fair
value less costs to sell of biological assets of approximately
HK$4,814,000 for the year then ended are material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s fair
value measurements involve application of judgements and are
based on assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the
external valuers engaged by client;

—  Obtaining the external valuation reports and meeting with the
external valuers to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to support
significant judgements and assumptions applied in the
valuation models;

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
models to supporting evidence;

—  Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation models; and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the fair value measurement in the
consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s fair value measurements of the
investment properties and biological assets are supported by the
available evidence.

Intangible assets
Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of intangible assets for impairment.
This impairment test is significant to our audit because the
balance of intangible assets of approximately HK$90,792,000 as at
30 June 2020 is material to the consolidated financial statements.
In addition, the Group’s impairment test involve application of
judgement and is based on assumptions and estimates.
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Our audit procedures included, among others:
—  Evaluating the Group's impairment assessment;

— Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow
projections;

—  Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions
(including revenue growth, profit margins, terminal growth
rates and discount rates);

—  Obtaining and checking to evidence to support the Group's
impairment assessment;

—  Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the
external valuer engaged by client;

—  Obtaining the external valuation report and meeting with the
external valuer to discuss and challenge the valuation
process, methodologies used and market evidence to support
significant judgements and assumptions applied in the
valuation model;

—  Checking arithmetical accuracy of the valuation model; and

—  Checking key assumptions and input data in the valuation
model to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for intangible assets
is supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor's report thereon. The other information is
expected to be made available to us after the date of this
auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’'s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's
website at:

http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/standards/
auditing-assurance/auditre/

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Sze Lin Tang

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P03614

Hong Kong, 30 September 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

%An\/

For the year ended 30 June 2020 #HZE—

Htzmk =R

Z_ZEFENA=THALEFE

2020 2019
—®-%% —F-hf¥
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
H &t TER FAET
Revenue W &5 7 75,406 119,387
Cost of sales 85 € B 2N (56,620) (101,003)
Gross profit EF 18,786 18,384
Other income H g A 9 964 1,896
Administrative and operating THREEERX
expenses (45,001) (61,184)
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment &2 AL E
properties (B18|), 18 (15,322) 2,299
Loss arising from changes in fair EYMEENLBEEIH LY
value less costs to sell of ERANEEZEE
biological assets 19 (4,814) (72,769)
Net loss on fair value changes on BARBEIFABRZEZRE
investments at fair value through ZARBEEY Y EE
profit or loss S %E (2,914) (7,247)
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries HEWB AR ZWE 33(a) — 149
Provision for impairment loss of B EEREBEBERREG
intangible assets 20 — (17,185)
Provision for impairment loss of J7E Uk BR 3R K E i FE Y Rk TE
trade and other receivables oL B IS 18 Bt 23 (6,337) (2,725)
Loss from operations TSR (54,638) (138,382)
Finance costs Bl & A 10 (2,144) (749)
Loss before tax BFiEEE (56,782) (139,131)
Income tax credit FTiSHE % 11 1,008 17,991
Loss for the year FEEBE 12 (55,774) (121,140)
Other comprehensive loss after KRHEHMB2EEIE
tax:
Items that may be reclassified to O ES P 15722
profit or loss: FE :
Exchange differences on translation & GINETE 7€ H = %8
of foreign operations (12,423) (15,886)
Other comprehensive loss for the F£FR H2EEIE
year, net of tax (BREL1B) (12,423) (15,886)
Total comprehensive loss for the FE2EEIEEZE
year (68,197) (137,026)

58 China Environmental Resources Group Limited

2020 Annual Report



For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE-—T-_TFAA=THIEFE

2020 2019
—®-®% —2-h%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
&t TER FAET
Loss for the year attributable to: TF%| A LFE{EEEEIE :
Owners of the Company RNABEA A (55,558) (122,322)
Non-controlling interests I 2 AR E 2 (216) 1,182
(55,774) (121,140)
Total comprehensive loss for the TFTHALTEEEEL2EE
year attributable to: E4EEE -
Owners of the Company KNABEA A (67,610) (137,774)
Non-controlling interests JE 20 B% RE 25 (587) 748
(68,197) (137,026)
Loss per share BkEE 14
Basic (HK cents per share) EAR(FREB) (3) (6)
Diluted (HK cents per share) B (Z s (3) (6)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B AR R R

Asat30June2020 R-—ZE-_ZTF,NA=1+H

2020 2019
—E-TE —E—hE
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k3 FHET FET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment W WE R&E 16 10,203 9,890
Right-of-use assets CREEE 17 28,057 —
Investment properties WEMZE 18 259,002 277,041
Biological assets EYEE 19 248,759 262,989
Intangible assets EBEEE 20 90,792 98,952
Goodwill EES 21 1,087 1,087
Loans receivable e W & 3k 24 3,380 6,274
641,280 656,233
Current assets RENEE
Inventories T8 22 22,804 23,165
Trade and other receivables JE L BR 3k B H Ath B UK FROR 23 66,859 65,240
Loans receivable & W E 3K 24 14,808 18,692
Investments at fair value through BARBEFABREZEE
profit or loss 25 1,696 4,883
Refundable secured deposit ARECEFZES 26 12,000 12,000
Cash and cash equivalents BeNERIIRELIEER 2,951 5,551
121,118 129,531
Current liabilities REERE
Trade and other payables JE 11 BR R R EL At FE {5 R IE 27 31,723 24,463
Contract liabilities EHEE 4,834 2,202
Lease liabilities HEA®E 28 4,085 —
Borrowings & 3K 29 26,000 22,000
Bank overdrafts RITHEX 29 3,679 —
Current tax liabilities BNHAT 1B & E 3,115 2,203
73,436 50,868
Net current assets RBEETE 47,682 78,663
Total assets less current BEMSERRHER
liabilities 688,962 734,896
Non-current liabilities ERBDER
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRIBEE 30 83,420 88,967
Lease liabilities HEAE 28 26,310 —
Borrowings & 3 29 1,500 —
111,230 88,967
NET ASSETS BEEE 577,732 645,929
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Asat 30 June 2020 R-_ZE-_ZFXH

2020 2019
—E-FHF —E-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
&t TFET FAT
Capital and reserves BEXRGEE

Share capital & A 31 40,731 40,731
Reserves G 524,427 592,037

Equity attributable to owners of the AR AI#EA AEERELR
Company 565,158 632,768
Non-controlling interests AR = 12,574 13,161
TOTAL EQUITY EmeE 577,732 645,929

The consolidated financial statements on pages 58 to 143 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on
30 September 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

Yeung Chi Hang
HmEIE
Director

EF

FSSEVA3EATHAMA VR NIECESTE
RZE_ZEFAA=TEMERERERE
T ITHATEERRESTSHE

Leung Kwong Choi

REF
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MEEREER

For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE-T-_TFA=1+HIEFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
AATHAAES
Foreign
Share Share-based  currency Non-
Share premium Statutory  Capital compensation translation Accumulated controlling
capital account reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Total
& 4 SMEE B
kEx HBER EEHE REEE ROMSHE i RitBE B FiEkiER aE
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TEx TEx TEL TFEn TET TET TET THEx TEL TAER
At 1 July 2018 RZE-N\F
+tHA—A 40,731 1,210,501 5,407 76 15,843 55,136 (557,152) 770,542 12,413 782,955
Total comprehensive FEZABRAR
loss for the year — — — — — (15,452) (122,322) (137,774) 748 (137,026)
At 30 June 2019 RZZ—NEF
AA=1H 40,731 1,210,501 5,407 76 15,843 39,684 (679,474) 632,768 13,161 645,929
At 1 July 2019 R=B-h%
+A—H 40,731 1,210,501 5,407 76 15,843 39,684 (679,474) 632,768 13,161 645,929
Total comprehensive FEZABEAR
loss for the year — — — — — (12,052) (55,558) (67,610) (587) (68,197)
Share options lapsed B2 Bk #E - - - - (3,213) - 3,213 — — —
At 30 June 2020 RZEZZF
AA=1H 40,731 1,210,501 5,407 76 12,630 27,632 (731,819) 565,158 12,574 571,732
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MERERER

For the year ended 30 June 2020 HZE_ZT_T &

NA=THIEFE

2020 2019
—E-FE —E—h
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B & FHET FAT
Cash flows from operating HEETHMBRER
activities
Loss before tax B Bt B &5 18 (56,782) (139,131)
Adjustments for: BT SHEARE
Amortisation of intangible assets G E 4,866 5,620
Depreciation e 9,976 3,805
Fair value loss/(gain) on KEMEZ R RE
investment properties BB (W) 15,322 (2,299)
Finance costs B & B A 2,144 749
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries HERB AR 2 W — (149)
Loss on disposals of property, HEWHE - BERZHE
plant and equipment )i 794 508
Loss arising from changes in fair EMEERRBEZER
value less costs to sell of HEXRRTEECEBE
biological assets 4,814 72,769
Net loss on fair value changes on R AREFABZ 2K
investments at fair value BARnBEEH BE
through profit or loss b=t 2,914 7,247
Provision for impairment loss of EBERVEEREBEEBERSE
intangible assets — 17,185
Provision for impairment loss of JE LT B R R L At i s R
trade and other receivables Iﬁﬁﬁl@ﬁ%%‘éﬁ 6,337 2,725
Operating loss before working BEESEHR 2L
capital changes JEET‘E (9,615) (30,971)
Change in inventories FEEH 361 16,987
Change in trade and other R M5 B 3R K L i E U
receivables B E ) (7,956) (20,533)
Change in loans receivable JE W & R B 6,778 680
Change in investments at fair BAREGFABRRZ
value through profit or loss & & & F) 273 (11,032)
Change in trade and other JE 1 BR R B L At JiE At
payables B E ) 7,260 2,138
Change in contract liabilities EHBEBEED 2,632 1,476
Cash used in operations KETARE (267) (41,255)
Income tax paid BT ATIE R (450) (408)
Net cash used in operating HETHMANREFHE
activities (717) (41,663)
y /B
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 B EZE—ZT-TF SA=+HIFE

2020 2019
ik o3 3 —E-NEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$’000
it TFET FAT
Cash flows from investing BEEHMBRERA
activities
Purchase of property, plant and BEME BEKXE
equipment (6,822) (698)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - BE LEEZ
plant and equipment Ffr 13 5K 18 591 577
Net cash inflow arising from TEMBAREALAZES
disposal of subsidiaries AR — 12,900
Net cash (used in)/generated ’EES(FRA)
from investing activities FiIRR&FHE (6,231) 12,779
Cash flows from financing REEHMERER
activities
Proceeds from borrowings BEFSRIE 6,500 24,000
Repayment of lease liabilities BEEHEBRE (3.214) —
Interests paid 2 AT F & (1,152) (714)
Repayment of borrowings [ERERERA (1,000) (2,000)
Lease interests paid EREERNE (993) —
Net cash generated from RETHMBASESE
financing activities 141 21,286
Net decrease in cash and cash HeRZERAREEARY
equivalents 3] (6,807) (7,598)
Effect of foreign exchange rate SNERE R F B R B
changes 528 122
Cash and cash equivalents at FzBEeRERBES
beginning of year 12 H 5,551 13,027
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRZRERZFRRE
of year IEH (728) 5,551
Analysis of cash and cash HeRFERREFEETH
equivalents
Bank and cash balances RITRIR & &R 2,951 5,551
Bank overdrafts RITBEX 29 (3.679) —
(728) 5,551
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B AR MY R

For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE-—T-_TFAA=THIEFE

1. GENERAL INFORMATION 1. —RE&EH
China Environmental Resources Group Limited (the FREREEREEAER AR (AR
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in the ADERRAEHETMRLNERE
Cayman Islands. The address of its registered office is £ A Ao & it ¥ F & 2 MUgland
Ugland House, South Church Street, P.O. Box 309, George House, South Church Street, P.O.
Town, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands, British West Indies. Box 309, George Town, Grand
The address of its principal place of business is Unit 2608, Cayman, Cayman lIslands, British West
26/F, Greenfield Tower, Concordia Plaza, No.1 Science Indies * T EZE MU R BB NI
Museum Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong. LRBERE R A E 526122608
The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The E o RARAIRMDREBBERGAE
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock PR 2 A] (B 32 A 1) 3= AR B N3k 38 55
Exchange”) and Singapore Exchange Limited. R LT e
During the year, the Company’s principal activity is FA XRBNETBEEBARREE
investment holding. The principal activities of its subsidiaries AR o E B ARz E 2 EBEHI M
are set out in note 38. The Company and its subsidiaries 7138 o AN\l R E M B A Bl UL 1&g i
hereinafter are collectively referred to as the “Group”. RIAREH] -

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. FERAWMIIREBITEEUBER
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS A
In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and RAEE  AEBEHMBES ST
revised Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") RE([BESHMAE]) /AL ER
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public EEZEBERER T —NLFLA
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) that are relevant to its —BRABZETFEEERZHEN
operations and effective for its accounting year beginning RIS BB BREEN (EE
on 1 July 2019. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial R EED]) BATBHREAER
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards, and PREBAVBREER BB GHE
Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised Bl R 2 o RN - IRNZERET
HKFRSs did not result in significant changes to the Group’s MBI BEEMBRELEAHAEE
accounting policies, presentation of the Group’s ZEEHBUR AEBERAUBRER L
consolidated financial statements and amounts reported for EINRBAFERBEFEMER
the current year and prior years except as stated below. SRV EEKERES -

Vi
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 B EZE—ZT-TF SA=+HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

HKFRS 16 “Leases”

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 retrospectively from 1 July
2019, but has not restated comparatives as permitted under
the specific transitional provisions in the standard. The
reclassifications and the adjustments arising from the
adoption of HKFRS 16 are therefore recognised in the

2.

i %ﬁ%(T&.?é?ﬂ%%Téi%ﬂﬁ%%ﬁ

FEEMBREERS16EAE]

AEBE-_ZE-NFLtA—HBERE
WEBE BV GRS ERE 165 - H
AEMERBBBEGRAATF L
REM - At - AT BHEREE
AIF1EMELEZEH D BERBES

T—NFLtA—HZ2HOFHR

opening statement of financial position on 1 July 2019 as N
follows: MERERAT
HK$'000
FET
At 1 July 2019 R=FT—NhLELtH—H
Increase in right-of-use assets {5 FA & B 0 2,973
Increase in lease liabilities HEBFE®EM (2,973)

The incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities

R-ZE-NFLtA-BEAREESR

on 1 July 2019 was 3.53%. in EEEMER353% °
The reconciliation of operating lease commitment to lease RZZFE-—NFLH - BLEEHEEASE
liabilities as at 1 July 2019 is set out below: EHEEEECHERHINMT :
HK$'000
FHET
Operating lease commitment at 30 June 2019: RZZE-NERA=ZTHZEE 7,109
ﬁ%%%
Less: Commitment relating to leases with a W EESRARR =T %i
remaining lease term ending on or /\E_: THHZABERZ
before 30 June 2020 BEAMHE (4,076)
Discounting B3R (60)
Lease liabilities at 1 July 2019 RZE-NE+tA—BZHEERE 2,973

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective. The application of these
new HKFRSs will not have material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 B EZE—ZT=_TFSA=+HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA, accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of biological assets, which are carried at their fair
values less costs to sell; and investment properties and
investments at fair value through profit or loss, which are
carried at their fair values. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors of
the Company to exercise their judgements in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The areas involving critical
judgements and areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to these consolidated financial statements, are
disclosed in note 4.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to
30 June. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or
has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. The Group has power over an entity
when the Group has existing rights that give it the current
ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that
significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties, to determine whether it has control. A potential
voting right is considered only if the holder has the practical
ability to exercise that right.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 B EZE—ZT-TF SA=+HIFE

68

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Consolidation (Continued)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results
in a loss of control represents the difference between (i) the
fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value
of any investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the
Company’s share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus
any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement
of changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year between
the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the
Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 B EZE—ZT=_TFSA=+HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination. The
cost of acquisition is measured at the acquisition-date fair
value of the assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities
incurred and contingent consideration. Acquisition-related
costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the
costs are incurred and the services are received. Identifiable
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are
measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of
the Company’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised
in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase which is
attributed to the Company.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its
acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is added to the
cost of acquisition to calculate the goodwill.

If the changes in the value of the previously held equity
interest in the subsidiary were recognised in other
comprehensive income (for example, equity investments at
fair value through other comprehensive income), the amount
that was recognised in other comprehensive income is
recognised on the same basis as would be required if the
previously held equity interest were disposed of.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
it might be impaired. Goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. The method of measuring
impairment losses of goodwill is the same as that of
“impairment of assets” as stated in the accounting policy
below. Impairment losses of goodwill are recognised in
consolidated profit or loss and are not subsequently
reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
(“CGU") that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the acquisition for the purpose of impairment testing.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities at the acquisition date.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

China Environmental Resources Group Limited

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of
the group entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$, which is the
Company’s functional currency and the Group’s
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in other comprehensive income, any
exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income. When a gain or loss
on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 B EZE—ZT=_TFSA=+HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(c) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Group’s presentation currency are translated into
the Group’s presentation currency as follows:

(i) Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at the
closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

(i) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case incomes and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

(i) All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency translation
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are recognised in consolidated profit or loss as
part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’'s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the period in which they
are incurred.

THRREEREBEBRAF

3.

RUBEREXEBR(E)

M5 EE R (8R)
() REENIRERIR

D EBRINAKREZIE
BmASEERNEENY
BRI T T A LR A
SENZIEE:

iy BUBRAKAZINE
ERBEDRZB BRI
=B H R YT I R

(i) Wzt R BT TyIE P E R
S (R IEaz F B E I IF
ZERXZHAREREXEN
RARENRENY &
BEAE T Y gk & 7 2 BIAR
R EHBERXTH])
54

(i) PMTEEEMEREZZETIIRN
HNEE IR FER o

REFEARE - LRSI EBHKRE
FRENMMERGEEWELZEININ
PE R E R R o B L EBNNER
B ARELZBEDRNG S BREANE
RAELERNKENBR L — 8D -

AKEEIERMELNEHERAA
BERE  DUBHNEBCEERAE
7 BR TR - 3 LA U T B R 5 e

ME BERRE

WX - BE MR B IIRKATIER R
AT ERRERE -

RBEEZERBEN B REENR
Al BEM ARG B B 5278 B By AR A A
A EMETER - FROMANT G AZ
BEMNGHAEXERRSBILEE (KR
BRAME) FAEEMBEERFRETS
RELHEAARBRANER -

CECEEER 71



For the year ended 30 June 2020 B EZE—ZT-TF SA=+HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
at rates sufficient to write off their costs less their residual
values over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis.
The principal annual rates are as follows:

The shorter of 20%-33% or
over the remaining
unexpired terms of the
leases

19%-33%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and

equipment
Cruiser 30%
Motor vehicles 30%

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Investment properties
are measured initially at their cost including all direct costs
attributable to the properties.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at
its fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair
value of the investment properties are recognised in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the property, and is recognised in profit or loss.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2020 Annual Report
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 B EZE—ZT=_TFSA=+HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets

corresponding lease liabilities when the leased assets are
available for use by the Group. Right-of-use assets are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Depreciation of right-of-use assets is calculated at rates to
write off their cost over the shorter of the asset’s useful life
and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The principal

annual rate is as follows:

Land and buildings 5%-92%

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
amount of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities,
lease payments prepaid, initial direct costs and the
restoration costs. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the lease payments discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease if that rate can be determined, or
otherwise the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Each
lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of

interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term
leases are leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or
less. Low-value assets are assets of value below US$5,000.

The Group as lessor

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all the
risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for
as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases is
recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the

relevant lease.
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74

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT 3.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Intangible assets

(a) Intangible assets acquired in a business
combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
and recognised separately from goodwill are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date
(which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination are measured at
cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as
intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Amortisation of intangible assets is calculated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of
30 years.

(b) Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are
stated at cost less accumulated amortisation (where the
estimated useful life is finite) and impairment losses.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives
is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the assets’ estimated useful lives of 30.6 years.

Biological assets
A biological asset is defined as a living plant managed by
the Group which is involved in the agricultural activity of the

transformation of biological assets for sale, into agricultural
produce, or into additional biological assets.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 B EZE—ZT=_TFSA=+HIFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Biological assets (Continued)

Biological assets comprise standing timbers in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), which are stated at fair value
less costs to sell at initial recognition and at the end of each
reporting period. The gain or loss arising on initial
recognition, and subsequent change in fair values less costs
to sell of biological assets is recognised in profit or loss in
the reporting period in which it arises. Costs to sell are the
incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an
asset, excluding finance costs and taxes. Standing timber is
transferred to inventory at its fair value less costs to sell at
the date of harvest.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out basis for
motor vehicles and tyres. Cost is determined using the
weighted average basis for recycled metals, golden flower
tea products and accessories of motor vehicles other than
tyres. The cost of finished goods and work in progress
comprises raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of all production overhead expenditure, and
where appropriate, subcontracting charges. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights
to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the assets; or the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
assets but has not retained control on the assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’'s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a
contract whose terms require delivery of the asset within the
timeframe established by the market concerned, and are
initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable
transaction costs except in the case of investments at fair
value through profit or loss. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the
following categories:

—  Financial assets at amortised cost
— Investments at fair value through profit or loss
(i) Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade, loans and other
receivables) are classified under this category if they
satisfy both of the following conditions:

—  the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the assets give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost

using the effective interest method less loss allowance
for expected credit losses.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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NA=TBEIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets (Continued)
(ii) Investments at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they
do not meet the conditions to be measured at
amortised cost and the conditions of debt investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income
unless the Group designates an equity investment that
is not held for trading as at fair value through other
comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or
losses arising from changes in fair values recognised in
profit or loss. The fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss are net of any interest income and
dividend income. Interest income and dividend income
are recognised in profit or loss.

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses on financial assets at amortised cost. Expected credit
losses are the weighted average of credit losses with the
respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures
the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount
equal to the expected credit losses that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of that
financial instrument (“lifetime expected credit losses”) for
trade and loans receivables or if the credit risk on that
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a
financial instrument (other than trade and loans receivables)
has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime
expected credit losses that represents the expected credit
losses that result from default events on that financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust
the loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to the
required amount is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 B EZE—ZT-TF SA=+HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents represent cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. Bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also

included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements
entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an
equity instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any
contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the
Group after deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity

instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least twelve months after the reporting

period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at

the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

78 China Environmental Resources Group Limited

3.

2020 Annual Report

RUBEREXEBR(E)

ReRERKRLIEH

IEERBRERERMS RERFR
ReBRBRERTRFELNERES R
ThEMSREEZERFX 8
REHNBELZRS LR ARBEZER
RZEHSRBUERE - RITEXIE
EREEIBRAEERSERE 2T
EHD - Nt AR RFRREHEA
ZAe

EHMERRESTAR

CREBERERTANREMIILE
ML ZAR - REBIH B HREER
TERMEBENMESTAZERTIAD
B-EaTARWUEARAEBEEE
ZHBRRRHNGEmBRERZE
MEN - MEETEMABLRESTA
Rz @t RRHFINMTE o

H FA

3 AR IR D A (B HETROR B B A M 32
5 AR + 14 5 PR B R SOA R 3
BAHE -

ERTIDBERRBEE  BIEAKE
BRERTSABEEECREREH
MERL+ @A -

FE £ B 5K R L 4t FE £ SR IE

JE& A RR X e Ho Al B SR M SR I B
AEIR - WRERFBERN A
WEHKAGTE - FRIFMIRZFER
iR AN BB T IR AR ARSI BR
TR

AR AR FTEITRORE R T A TR
B PIT 15 7K TEURL B IR B AT R AR RC 8% o



For the year ended 30 June 2020 HZE_ZT_T &

NA=TBEIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. For a contract where the period between
the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised product or service exceeds one year, the
consideration is adjusted for the effect of a significant
financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring control over a
product or service to a customer. Depending on the terms of
a contract and the laws that apply to that contract, a
performance obligation can be satisfied over time or at a
point in time. A performance obligation is satisfied over time
if:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

—  the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

—  the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the product or service.

THRREEREBEBRAF

3.

RUBEREXEBR(E)

ERSHZW

W HIREEF PRI M A 4P
MRESLZERXBEMGFE X1
BERARE=ZJTURBNSE - HNF
B3R R B 1 5 2 an 3 IR 7% HIR 8
B—FHNEH RESHREARES
D EETHE

REERTK AR P EEE MRS
THENBHNREERRERYE - KT
SRRFREEERERNED - B
29 & 1 A e B A sl 70 3 8 B ] B 5
B o iWEBIA TR - BA R AIRE
BF A K

— EFRBKRREENEERE
#) P 1R 4 1 7l 25

— AEEROARLERF—ER
BRREABEELEHNE
B

— AEEEBAYEAZHEASE
AREMBENEE BAK

BERRESBLETKNE
#) 8B 2 5 I e [ 5ROR -

el & 49 & (2 7T BE RS A AR - Weas T AR
BERBEHERNEETNESHER - &
A WX E P &S E m SR
H B By ) B RE R

CECEEER 79



For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_—_ZT_T &

80

NA=TBEIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Other revenue

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset's net
carrying amount.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

Employee benefits
(@) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.
A provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave and long service leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(b) Pension obligations

The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all
employees. Contributions to the schemes by the Group
and employees are calculated as a percentage of
employees’ basic salaries. The retirement benefit
scheme cost charged to profit or loss represents
contributions payable by the Group to the funds.

(¢) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 B EZE—ZT=_TFSA=+HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by
applying a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that
asset. The capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the
borrowing costs applicable to the borrowings of the Group
that are outstanding during the period, other than
borrowings made specifically for the purpose of obtaining a

qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in

the period in which they are incurred.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to directors and employees

The fair value of services received is determined by reference
to the fair value of the share options granted at the grant
date and is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, with a corresponding increase in equity

(share-based compensation reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to share-based

compensation reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share-based compensation
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve will be

transferred to accumulated losses.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 B EZE—ZT-TF SA=+HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and

deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or
loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's
liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the

reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses or
unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the

accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be

recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in

equity.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HZE_ZT_T &

NA=TBEIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model of the
Group whose business objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale. If the
presumption is rebutted, deferred tax for such investment
properties are measured based on the expected manner as to
how the properties will be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes

levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Related parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_—_ZT_T &
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NA=TBEIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)

(B)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(viii)

China Environmental Resources Group Limited

The entity and the Company are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third
entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are
also related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

A person identified in (A)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the
Company.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HZE_ZT_T &

NA=TBEIEFE

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets except biological assets,
investment properties, investments, inventories, receivables
and goodwill to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of any
impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the
asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset or CGU is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss,
unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation
decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset or CGU is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset or CGU in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
treated as a revaluation increase.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 B EZE—ZT-TF SA=+HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditures expected to

settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent
liability, unless the probability of outflow is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events
are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the

probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Events
after the reporting period that are not adjusting events are

disclosed in the notes when material.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 B EZE—ZT=_TFSA=+HIFE

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Fair value less costs to sell of biological assets and
fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed independent professional valuers
to assess the fair value less costs to sell of biological
assets and fair value of investment properties. In
determining the fair values, the valuers have utilised a
method of valuation which involves certain estimates.
The directors have exercised their judgement and are
satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of
the current market conditions.

Impairment of intangible assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for intangible assets at the end of each
reporting period. Such assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts
may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a CGU exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is higher of its fair value
less costs of disposal and its value in use. To calculate
the fair value less costs of disposal, the management
estimates the expected future cash flows from the
assets or CGU and chooses a suitable discount rate in
order to derive the present value of those cash flows.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives,
residual values and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
and residual values of property, plant and equipment
of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise
the depreciation charge where useful lives and residual
values are different to those previously estimated, or it
will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 B EZE—ZT-TF SA=+HIFE
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

China Environmental Resources Group Limited

Impairment loss for bad and doubtful debts

The Group makes impairment loss for bad and
doubtful debts based on assessments of the
recoverability of its trade, loans and other receivables,
including the current creditworthiness, collateral
security, financial condition and past collection history
of each debtor. Impairments arise where events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the balances
may not be collectible. The identification of bad and
doubtful debts requires the use of judgement and
estimates. Where the actual result is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying value of the trade, loans and other receivables
and doubtful debt expenses in the year in which such
estimate has been changed. If the financial conditions
of the debtors were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments,
additional allowances may be required.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant estimates are required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated costs of completion and selling expense.
These estimates are based on the current market
condition and the historical experience of
manufacturing and selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of changes in
customer taste and competitor actions. The Group will
reassess the estimates by the end of each reporting
period.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HZ—-F

—EERA=THIERE

5. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS
MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and
interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency
risk as most of its business transactions, assets and
liabilities are principally denominated in HK$ and
Renminbi which are the functional currencies of the
principal operating entities of the Group. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy in respect of foreign currency transactions,
assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk in respect of
its investments at fair value through profit or loss. The
directors manage this exposure by maintaining a
portfolio of investments with different risk profiles. The
Group’s equity price risk is mainly concentrated on
equity instruments quoted in the Stock Exchange.

At 30 June 2020, if the share prices of the
investments increased/decreased by 10%, the Group’s
post-tax loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$142,000 (2019: HK$408,000) lower/
higher, arising as a result of the fair value gain/loss of
the investments.
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5.
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FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

()

China Environmental Resources Group Limited

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other receivables, loans receivable,
investments at fair value through profit or loss and
refundable secured deposit included in the
consolidated statement of financial position represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to the Group’s financial assets.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
certain concentration of credit risk as approximately
76% (2019: 66%) and 97% (2019: 94%) of its trade
receivables were due from the largest customer and
the five largest customers, respectively. The Group has
policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with an appropriate credit history. In
addition, the directors review the recoverable amounts
of each individual trade and loan debt regularly to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are recognised
for irrecoverable debts. In this regard, the directors
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The credit risk on investments at fair value through
profit or loss is limited because the counterparties are
well-established securities broker firms in Hong Kong.

The Group obtains collateral from the vendor to
minimise the credit risk in respect of the refundable
secured deposit.

5.
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NA=TBEIEFE

5. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of financial assets on
an ongoing basis throughout each reporting period by
comparing the risk of a default occurring as at the
reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following information is used:

— internal credit rating;

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant change to the
borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the borrower;

— significant changes in the value of the collateral
or in the quality of guarantees or credit
enhancements; and

— significant changes in the expected performance
and behaviour of the borrower, including
changes in the payment status of borrower.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a
debtor is more than 30 days past due in making a
contractual payment. A default on a financial asset is
when the counterparty fails to make contractual
payments within 90 days of when they fall due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor
failing to engage in a repayment plan with the Group.
The Group normally categorises a loan or receivable
for write off when a debtor fails to make contractual
payments greater than 360 days past due. Where loans
or receivables have been written off, the Group, if
practicable and economical, continues to engage in
enforcement activity to attempt to recover the
receivable due.

THRREEREBEBRAF
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FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(c)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group uses two categories for non-trade loan
receivables which reflect their credit risk and how the
loss provision is determined for each of the categories.
In calculating the expected credit loss rates, the Group
considers historical loss rates for each category and
adjusts for forward looking data.

5. ERMRELEEEEE)

() fEEmEME (&)

AEBEGLIEE S EKEWHKIA
ERMERN ARKREEE
2 B B an A st %% 4R Bl E B 1R
BE- AEBEHEEBEX
B AEEZEXBHCES
B 1R & - I A BE 1 BURE

Az -
Category Definition Loss provision
=5l E & b oibidi
Performing Low risk of default and strong 12 month expected losses
capacity to pay
R 4f BARRKERZEENHE 1218 A B B & 18

Non-performing

TR

Significant increase in credit risk
15 5 2.k 78 Z 35 0

All of these receivables are considered to have low risk
and under the ‘Performing’ category because they have
a low risk of default and have strong ability to meet

their obligations.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited

Lifetime expected losses
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5. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(d) Liquidity risk
The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and
expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its

liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities

ERMEREERER(B)

(d) REBEEEE

AEBENBRRREHMERRKE
REMRBDESCTE BRHE
HARMBRe@HAERREHR
EHPRPESHE -

AEBERABZAHA SN

is as follows: m
Within Total
1 year or undiscounted Carrying
on demand 1-2 years cash flow amount
—ELRE KRR E
FEE K —EmME RESHE IREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FTERT FTERT FTERT
At 30 June 2020 R-F_F¥f
~A=1+H
Trade and other payables J& <8R 2 I E fth
&R IE 31,723 — 31,723 31,723
Borrowings fa & 26,764 1,500 28,264 27,500
Bank overdrafts RITEX 3,679 — 3,679 3,679
62,166 1,500 63,666 62,902
Within Total
1 year or undiscounted Carrying
on demand 1-2 years cash flow amount
—FHUA AEBRRE
fE &k —EWE mE R REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THETT THETT THETT THETT
At 30 June 2019 R-Z¥|—h%E
~A=t+H
Trade and other payables J& {8 ¢ & E b
JE 5 308 24,463 = 24,463 24,463
Borrowings fa & 22,887 — 22,887 22,000
47,350 — 47,350 46,463

y/m -\

HTEBEEREEERAT —TE_ETEER 93 0-<0-=



For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_—_ZT_T &

94

FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT 5.

NA=TBEIEFE

(CONTINUED)

ERMREERER(B)

(e) Interest rate risk (e) 2=zl bix
The directors of the Company are of the opinion that RNRBIEEZRR BRTEEA
the Group does not have significant interest rate risk EREBIWTEKN - ALK E I E
as the fluctuation in interest rates is not expected to BEAFMERR AKEBEBLE
be material. The Group will constantly review the %Eﬁi&ﬁiﬁ‘ g R BRI = B b 4B
economic situation and its interest rate risk profile, and W R RE N BEREER
will consider appropriate hedging measure in future as 5}5/5\3@5’\]%“?541 B o
may be necessary.
(f) Categories of financial instruments at 30 June f) MR-B-FBER_F—WLE
2020 and 2019 AA=+THZERM T RE
2020 2019
—E-EE —ET—NF
HK$000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Financial assets SREE
Investments at fair value BAREFABREZEE
through profit or loss 1,696 4,883
Financial assets at amortised BEEKATECSRE
cost (including cash and cash E(BEHRE2REZERRE
equivalents): BH):
Trade receivables JE I BR 5K 38,738 40,350
Deposits and other ®e K HE MWK KIA
receivables 12,811 10,655
Loans receivable J&E B 5k 18,188 24,966
Refundable secured deposit REEEKFZ S 12,000 12,000
Cash and cash equivalents RekFRRELER 2,951 5,551
86,384 98,405
Financial liabilities SREE
Financial liabilities at amortised 1R # $5 B N5t 2 2
cost: TREEE :
Trade and other payables JE 11 BR 3R R L fth JE A5
IE 31,723 24,463
Borrowings &K 27,500 22,000
Lease liabilities HEAE 30,395 —
89,618 46,463

China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2020 Annual Report
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5. FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

(9)

(h)

Fair values

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated
statement of financial position approximate their
respective fair values.

Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost capital.
The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from
prior years.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions. In order to maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may issue or buy-back shares,
issue new debts, recover debts or sell assets to
maintain sufficiency of working capital.

The Group’s total capital is the shareholders’ equity
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The Group is not subject to external
mandatory capital requirements and uses the liquidity
ratio (i.e. proportion of current assets to current
liabilities) to monitor the capital.

The liquidity ratio of the Group is as follows:

5.

ERMEREERER(B)

(9)

(h)
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ExEmER
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AEBWRDESLL DT :

2020 2019

i el 33 —T-NF

Liquidity ratio MBE &= 1.65 2.55
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96

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 6.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The
following disclosures of fair value measurements use a fair
value hierarchy that categorises into three levels the inputs
to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the
Group can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs: inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group's policy is to recognise transfers into and
transfers out of any of the three levels as of the date of the

AREE

NREBEZEER/MHE2EENTER
HETZEFR ST HEEEMKEL
SERBEMN ZERS- LAT’D\/‘C
EfERBERZOAERBR  #1Hh
EREHREARED A= AER -
NEHERAE:

E—R REBRGERBA

BWARE: DGHEREEXAR
RIERT S ®ECK
,Zf«uﬂﬁk)

F_® BEXRABAEEX
BABE: REBEZEHAH
B E-—RERBZRH

BER SN -

=% BEXRBEBZTAE
WA BEE-

AEE MR BEREEN FHEIGK
NEBEHZER 2 BY %S =(E

event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. EREMBBAREL -
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 30 June @ R-TE_ZTZFRNA=ZF+HZA
2020: RERERKE
Fair value measurements using:
FEALTEABBZARENE
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
it E—h E_H E=H et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TER TER TER TER
Recurring fair value KEEQNRE
measurements: A2
Biological assets EMEE — 248,759 — 248,759
Investments at fair B ARERA
value through profit Ezm 7&K &
or loss 1,696 — — 1,696
Investment properties &HEILE W%
in Hong Kong — 190,000 — 190,000
Investment properties A Bl 1% & ¥ ¥
in the PRC — 69,002 — 69,002
Total recurring CEEHARE
fair value R
measurements 1,696 507,761 — 509,457

China Environmental Resources Group Limited 2020 Annual Report
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6.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(Continued)

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 30 June

6.

AR{EEE (&)

(a) (#&)

R-B-—HNFRNA=+TBHZR

2019: REERKE
Fair value measurements using:
ERATRABEZ AREBENE:
Description Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
1t F— FMR FE= #Et
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
FAET FAET FAET FAET
Recurring fair value  &EEAAE
measurements: TE
Biological assets EYEE — 262,989 — 262,989
Investments at fair BRRAREGAER
value through profit Z#&&
or loss 4,883 = = 4,883
Investment properties &EBI% & W E
in Hong Kong — 200,000 — 200,000
Investment properties H B % & ¥ %
in the PRC — 77,041 — 77,041
Total recurring EEMEARE
fair value STRAH
measurements 4,883 540,030 — 544,913

Disclosure of valuation process used by the Group and
valuation technigues and inputs used in fair value

measurements:

The Group’s management is responsible for the fair
value measurements of assets and liabilities required
for financial reporting purposes. The management
reports directly to the board of directors for these fair
value measurements. Discussions of valuation processes
and results are held between the management and the
board of directors at least twice a year.

THRREEREBEBRAF

(b) AEBEFAGERERELA
AERTEMRGEERMTREA

Bz -

AEEEERRERRETHMER
EARECEERBBRAAE
AE-EEEEERRAESFE®
EREAAEE-BEEENR

E=gBFELHRMBERRE
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Aft{EsHE (&)

(%)

6. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 6.

(b) (Continued) (b)
TREIEEAEBIZA R E
EREMEERKEYENR

REWFEE -

The following table gives information about how the
fair values of the Group’s biological assets and
investment properties carried at fair value are
determined.

BoRAREFE

Level 2 fair value measurements

98

Fair value Fair value
Af{E RAfE
2020 2019
—EZTE ZZT-NF
Description Valuation technique Key input HK$'000 HK$'000
1o 3 EERH TEBMAHE FERT TAET
Biological assets  Market approach Market price of poplar trees per 248,759 262,989
cubic meter
EYEE DIRENS BGESIL A KTE
Investment Direct comparison Market price of car parking space 190,000 200,000
properties in approach
Hong Kong
BEAREME EHELBZE FEEEMTE
Investment Market approach and  Land: market price per square 69,002 77,041
properties in replacement cost meter;
the PRC approach Buildings: replacement cost per
square meter
FEEEME WEEREE T BEAKTE
N BF - SFHAREENAR

China Environmental Resources Group Limited

2020 Annual Report
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE-—T-_TFAA=THIEFE

7. REVENUE 7. W=
2020 2019
—B-TF§ —E—NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FAT
Trading of recycled metals BEERKE B 12,862 46,001
Trading of motor vehicles and related B & & & #8 B A2 14
accessories 55,737 66,547
Sales of golden flower tea products 5% & /£ 4 E 144 27
Revenue from contracts with BEFE&EH 2 W
customers 68,743 112,575
Rental income HE WA 3,696 3,891
Loan interest income B3R F 8 A 2,939 2,893
Dividend income SR N 28 28
Total revenue Y& 75,406 119,387
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers for HE_Z-_ZFA=THIEEE "
year ended 30 June 2020: BEFEEHWMzE DI
Trading of
Trading of motor vehicles Sales of
recycled and related golden flower
metals accessories  tea products
BERER HE
EOREE 1HEA B EEXER
HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FERT FHERT FERT
Geographical markets i [E v 35
The PRC H — 1,769 144
Hong Kong BB 12,862 53,151 —
Macau PG — 817 —
12,862 55,737 144
FEREEAREEERAR —ETE-TEFR
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7.

100

REVENUE (CONTINUED) W 2= (48)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers for BHE_ZE-—NFEA=THILEE"
year ended 30 June 2019: BEAHKRZEZ D
Trading of
Trading of  motor vehicles Sales of
recycled and related  golden flower
metals accessories tea products
BEAER HE
EEOKEE 18 8 B 1 ERERE®
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Geographical markets i = T 15
The PRC i 11,457 315 27
Hong Kong a5 34,544 65,370 —
Macau B P = 862 —
46,001 66,547 27

All revenue from contracts with customers are recognised at
a point in time.

Sales of goods

The Group sells recycled metals, motor vehicles and related
accessories to the customers. Sales are recognised when
control of the products has transferred, being when the
products are delivered to a customer, there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the
products and the customer has obtained legal titles to the
products.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of
30 to 90 days. For new customers, deposits or cash on
delivery may be required. Deposits received are recognised as
contract liabilities.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
to the customers as this is the point in time that the
consideration is unconditional because only the passage of
time is required before the payment is due.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited

2020 Annual Report
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. HEpEH
The Group has seven reportable segments for the year HE— 7f7¢/\ﬂ +HILEFE
ended 30 June 2020 as follows: REBLERAMEWMEBAOT
(i) Trading of recycled metals i)y EBCLkEB
(i)  Trading of motor vehicles and related accessories (iy EHEEFAEKBEREG
(iiiy  Property investment (i) WELKE
(iv)  Provision of financial services (iv) et miR%E
(v)  Sales of golden flower tea products (v) HEDIEREM
(vi)  Securities trading and investment (vij BFHEBENRKE
(vii) Sales of plantation materials and products (viiy HEEEE®
The Group's reportable segments are strategic business units REEZAI 2RO BRIZ|ETRESD
that offer different products and services. They are managed MRS 2 RIS ETENL - ARNEET
separately because each business requires different FETRRMERTISHERELR WD
technology and marketing strategies. HAEBESI2HmDE -
Segment profits or losses do not include finance costs and 73 505 A1) 3k B 18 1 B 1 B & B AR K P
income tax credit. Segment assets do not include goodwill mﬁﬁﬁ ’\*BéﬁT@%ﬁ@&—J
and refundable secured deposit. Segment liabilities do not L%Eﬁﬁ? c DEBETBRIEER
include deferred tax liabilities and borrowings and bank EREAE J«A&fﬁi"&fﬁ FEX e
overdrafts

TERREEREBBERAR Z—T-TEFRH 101
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. HEREHR (&)
Information about reportable segment revenue, profit or B 2R BN B BE
loss, assets and liabilities: RBENERAT
Trading of Sales of
motor Sales of plantation
Trading of  vehicles Provision of golden  Securities  materials
recycled and related  Property  financial flower tea trading and and
metals accessories investment  services  products investment  products Others Total
ERON EERER REESH HESHE SBHER  HEEE .
¢R HEE# DERE R ER #E ER b h
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL T THL THL T THL THL T THL
Year ended 30 June 2020 BE-2-%%
~NAZ+BLEE
Revenue from external customers RENREFHNE 12,862 55,737 3,696 2,939 144 2 - - 75,406
Segment (loss)/profit comprising: AH(EB)/EFRE: (10,526) 2,723 (14,882) 2,893 (383) (2,895) (9,565) (4,425 (37,060)
Loss arising from changes in fair ENEENAERD
value less costs to sell of L ERAEE
biological assets ZE#R - - - - - - (4,814) - (4,814)
Fair value loss on investment REMEZAR
properties e - - (15322) - - - - - (15322)
Depreciation and amortisation FEREH (1,908) (953) (2,078) - (206) - (4,693) 2917)  (12,755)
Proceeds from disposal of listed HELmER
securities A - - - - - 73 - - bYE}
Costs of disposal of listed securities ~ H%& F A& FE KA - - — - - (670) - - (670)
Net unrealised losses on listed EHEFHRER
securities BEEFE - - - - - (2,517) - — (2,517)
Provision for impairment loss of BVAERERR
intangible assets #E - - - - - - - - -
Provision for impairment loss of EWEFAERSE
trade receivables i (6,:337) - - - - - - — (6,337)
At 30 June 2020 RZF-¥ERA=+H
Segment assets PHEE 5,069 78,531 260,311 18,208 6,750 1,750 333,694 36,242 740,555
Segment liabilities AHEE 438 13,077 4,225 623 135 467 4,816 33,389 57,170
Year ended 30 June 2019 BE-B-1%
~AZTHELEE
Revenue from external customers RENREF f s 46,001 66,547 3,891 2,893 27 28 = — 119387
Segment (loss)/profit comprising: AH(ER)/EHBE (13,001) (293) (305) 2873 (25350) (73500 (77.717) - (121143)
Loss arising from changes in fair ENAERAEED
value less costs to sell of FHERAEE
biological assets ZE# = = = = = —  (712,769) —  (72,769)
Fair value gain on investment RENZAAME
properties Wik = = 2,299 = = = = — 2,299
Depreciation and amortisation REREH (2,302) (755) = = (789) = (4,831) — (8677)
Proceeds from disposal of listed LEFTESHS
securities B = = = = = 10,604 = — 10,604
Costs of disposal of listed securities 1% EMEHHKA = = = = — (12157 = — (12157
Net unrealised losses on listed EMEFHRER
securities BRFE = = = = = (5,694) — — (5,694)
Provision for impairment loss of EVAERERR
intangible assets B = = = — (17,189 = = — (17,189
Provision for impairment loss of EWEFAERSE
trade receivables B (2,725) = = = = = = = (2,725)
At 30 June 2019 RZF-AERAZ+H
Segment assets PBEE 13,302 76,241 278,361 25,051 7,041 4,989 355,879 — 760,864
Segment liabilities PHEE 182 6,975 3,686 611 10 467 4,250 = 16,181

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) SEEH (&)
Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, BN E2FD BN B BE
assets and liabilities: MEEREERNT
2020 2019
—EEE —ZE-NF
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Revenue: W 25 :
Total revenue of reportable segments ] 2 ) 7 2 42 W 25 75,406 119,387
Loss: B518 -
Total loss of reportable segments A E2Wm N AR EE (37,060) (121,143)
Other profit or loss: HithE = -

Finance costs Bh & kAN (2,144) (749)
Income tax credit TR % 1,008 17,991
Corporate and unallocated loss TENARDEEE (17,578) (17,239)
Consolidated loss for the year FEHKREEE (55,774) (121,140)

Assets: BE:

Total assets of reportable segments 7] 2 {5 PEE E 740,555 760,864
Goodwill 5SS 1,087 1,087
Refundable secured deposit AREERFZS 12,000 12,000
Corporate and unallocated assets TEERDPEEE 8,756 11,813
Consolidated total assets LEREE 762,398 785,764
Liabilities: Bff:

Total liabilities of reportable segments 7] £ 5 HEE E 57,170 16,181
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFRIBEEE 83,420 88,967
Borrowings and bank overdrafts ERMBITEX 31,179 22,000
Corporate and unallocated liabilities %K AN E B E 12,897 12,687
Consolidated total liabilities reERBaE 184,666 139,835

FEREEREEAGRA —ECFEFR 103 €
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE-T-_TFA=1+HIEFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 8. HEMEH (&)
Geographical information: [ & R
Revenue Non-current assets
W 25 EREEE
2020 2019 2020 2019
i i 3 3 —E-NF il i o33 —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT FHET FAT
The PRC s 1,913 11,798 408,560 438,982
Hong Kong & 72,676 106,727 199,666 217,251
Macau A 817 862 — =
Nepal JESARR — — 33,054 —
75,406 119,387 641,280 656,233
In presenting the geographical information, revenue is based REFIHEERE W HBRERP
on the locations of the customers. FrfE ozt & o
Revenue from major customers: REEFEEFPHIKE
2020 2019
—E-EE —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Trading of motor vehicles and BERERHEFEY
related accessories
Customer A ZEA 36,341 42,051
Revenue from the above customer individually contributed KE LR F R ERERIL SR 2
more than 10% of the total revenue of the Group. W 2£10% A ko
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE-—T-_TFAA=THIEFE

10.

11.

OTHER INCOME 9. Hfhlk A
2020 2019
—E-EE —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
Sponsor income Z A 393 543
Forfeiture of deposits received for BHERENE KRS
sales of motor vehicle — 273
Sub-letting income S HEBA — 240
Others HAh 571 840
964 1,896
FINANCE COSTS 10. BAEME
2020 2019
—ECZEE —EF-NF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts fRITE K K& X 5 & 1,151 749
Leases interests HERNE 993 —
2,144 749
INCOME TAX CREDIT 11. FhiEHER
2020 2019
—EZEE —F-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT THE T
Current tax — Hong Kong Profits Tax BIEAFEIE — BHHEF S
Provision for the year FEEE 1,401 1,417
Over-provision in prior years BEFEREEEG (40) (8)
Deferred tax (note 30) IR E B IE (M7 7£30) (2,369) (19,400)
Income tax credit st e (1,008) (17,991)

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at a rate of
16.5% (2019: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits for
the year ended 30 June 2020.

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere have been
calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practices in respect thereof.

TERREREEERAR

BEANEBHRERBEE S _TF <A
ZtHLEFEZHAERE RN Z
16.5% (ZZ— N5 : 16.5% ) 5+ 12 &

e
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE_—_ZT_T &

11.

106

INCOME TAX CREDIT (CONTINUED) 11.

NA=TBEIEFE

Reconciliation between income tax credit and
accounting loss at applicable tax rate

FiaHE% (&)

RERABESENMEBHEAR R

EFtEBEZHER

2020 2019
—EEE —NF
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Loss before tax B T Al 5 18 (56,782) (139,131)
Tax calculated at applicable tax rate 1% i@ A #{ &25%
of 25% (2019: 25%) (ZE—NF:25%)
AEZHE (14,196) (34,783)
Effect of different tax rates of the MBARIMERN— 2 &
subsidiaries 3,074 4,899
Tax effect of expenses that are not ~ NAIHIE A X 2 MK TE
deductible 7,060 8,127
Tax effect of income that are not DEFRMBAZRIEEE
taxable (17) (604)
Tax effect of temporary differences KRR E I &= 88 < T 15
not recognised wa 1,106 642
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses &) FB 4t Al 7k FE 3R 3 75 &5 18
not previously recognised ZHIE R E (12) —
Tax reduction 75 0O (165) (165)
Over-provision in prior years BAEFEHEERE (40) (8)
Tax effect of tax losses not RERTIAEE 2 B
recognised & 2,182 3,901
Income tax credit st e (1,008) (17,991)
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE-—T-_TFAA=THIEFE

12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 12. £EBHIE

This is stated at after charging the following: T HIBR T Y S HEB R

2020 2019

—E-FTE —E—hnF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

Amortisation of intangible assets A EE 4,866 5,620
Auditor’s remuneration 1% R BN & 980 970
Depreciation e 9,976 3,805

Loss on disposals of property, plant HEWZE  BE R&EZ

and equipment &5 18 794 508
Expenses related to short-term leases/ & BE A ERH =~

operating lease charges on land and +THI REFELHEE

buildings % A 3,052 7,272

Staff costs (including directors’ BETIXRA(BREZTHE):
remuneration):
— salaries, bonuses and allowances — #FH & - {E4L & 2AL 15,014 19,366

— retirement benefit scheme — RIREFIET 5

contributions 404 611
15,418 19,977
TEBEAREEARAT —T-TEEH 107 0 O =



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR AR

For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE-T-_TFA=1+HIEFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 13. EERITHARMNE
EMOLUMENTS
(@) The emoluments of each director are as (a) BSBREEMMELIFHWT :
follows:
2020
=t B
Retirement
Salaries and Discretionary  benefit scheme
Fees  allowances bonus  contributions Total
BRIKEH
e HeREM BEiEa at 2l aat
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000
TER TER TET TERT T#ER
Chief executive TRA%
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang BEELE 1,536 — 128 18 1,682
Executive directors WITEE
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi REFEE 360 — 30 18 408
Mr. Wong Po Keung BREEE 300 660 80 18 1,058
Mr. Chung Siu Wah BOERE 1,056 — 88 18 1,162
Mr. Chik To Pan FlLER & & 430 — 40 18 538
Independent non-executive ~ BIFHITEE
directors
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang BRERE 120 — 10 — 130
Mr. Ong Chi King FFHMEL 120 — 10 - 130
Mr. Heung Chee Hang FEEE 120 — 10 — 130
Total @t 4,092 660 396 90 5,238
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE-—T-_TFAA=THIEFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) The emoluments of each director are as

13. EERITHEHNE (&R)

(a) %ﬁ%i%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂ'l: :

follows: (Continued) (48)
2019
“2-NF
Retirement
Salaries and  Discretionary  benefit scheme
Fees allowances bonus contributions Total
BIkEA
e HekEH MEEL HE L3 @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FET TET TAT TAET THT
Chief executive fTHAES
Mr. Yeung Chi Hang BEELE 1,536 = 128 18 1,682
Executive directors BiTEE
Mr. Leung Kwong Choi PESEE 285 = 30 14 329
Mr. Wong Po Keung BRELE 300 660 80 18 1,058
Mr. Chung Siu Wah EOEEL 1,06 - 88 18 1,162
Mr. Chik To Pan BEELE 480 = 40 18 538
Independent non-executive BUkHTES
directors
Mr. Wong Kwai Sang BEALE 120 = 10 = 130
Mr. Ong Chi King FFHEE 120 = 10 = 130
Mr. Heung Chee Hang AEBELEE 120 = 10 — 130
Total @5t 4,017 660 396 86 5,159
There was no arrangement under which a director and HEZZTZZEFR_ZT—NF

chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments during the years ended 30 June 2020 and

2019.

NA=Z+THLEFE EFNT
BB EET L MR KF BN
REMME -
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 B EZE—ZT-TF SA=+HIFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

110

EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during
the year included three (2019: three) directors whose
emoluments are set out in note (a) above. The
emoluments of the remaining two (2019: two)
individuals are set out below:

13. EERITHEHNE (&K)

(b) EBEEEHFAL

FR AEBRERESHFAL
BR=Z%2(ZF-LF:=%)
Ex HMe#@IIN EXWE
@ BTWE(ZZE—NF: ™
BIANLTZMEFEMT

2020 2019
—EC-FE —E—hE
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi#&T THET
Basic salaries, allowances and  EA#H 4 28K
benefits-in-kind B YA = 2,000 1,990
Retirement benefit scheme R OKE FI 5T 2 3R
contributions 18 26
2,018 2,016

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

NFETINBEHME

2020 2019

—g-%% -F-h%

HK$°000 HK$’000

FHR FET

Nil-HK$1,000,000 £ %1,000,000% 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,0018 T &

1,500,000/ 7T 1 1

2 2

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors or the highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

AREBEAEAEELEE
FALEAMS  fEBMAK
5 8507 A 4R LB 7 BB
o5 8 B 1 15
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 B EZE—ZT=_TFSA=+HIFE

14.

15.

LOSS PER SHARE
Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners
of the Company is based on the loss for the year
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$55,558,000 (2019: HK$122,322,000) and the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 2,036,538,114 (2019:
2,036,538,114) in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share

The effects of all potential ordinary shares are anti-dilutive
for the years ended 30 June 2020 and 2019.

DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend or declare the payment of
any dividend in respect of the years ended 30 June 2020
and 2019.

THRREEREBEBRAF

14.

15.

BIREE
BlREFEBIR

KRR EABLRSREXREE ZS
BEEARNNRHAE AEGHFEANEIE
#355,558,000% L (= T — 7L & :
122,322,000/ 70) K F A E 217 8
% hn 4 F 159 £02,036,538,114R% (= =
— L4 : 2,036,538,1140%) ©

B EEE
BE_ZS_ZEFRK_ZF—NLF A
—THRILEFENMBEELERARTE
B R #E -

B2
ERVIEZHEMREBEE T -F

FRZB-NFRAA=TBHLEFEIK
MERKE -

S
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 B EZE—ZT-TF SA=+HIFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. Y% - W& Rk

Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and Motor
improvements  equipment Cruiser vehicles Total
HE KB
HERKE ET 4 RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAEL FTiEL TAEL FTAEL FTiEL
Cost %
At 1 July 2018 RZE-N\FtHA—H 4,995 8,814 3,000 6,271 23,080
Additions NE 411 287 = — 698
Disposals & = (328) — (1,370) (1,698)
At30 June 2019 and R ZE-—AFSA=1H
1 July 2019 R—ZE-h&EtHA—H 5,406 8,773 3,000 4,901 22,080
Additions RE 3,874 2,948 — — 6,822
Disposals & (2,573) (1,299) — (140) (4,012)
Exchange differences X ESR (176) (132) — — (308)
At 30 June 2020 R-ZE-_FF~A=1H 6,531 10,290 3,000 4,761 24,582
Accumulated EH g
depreciation
At 1 July 2018 R-_ZE-N\E+A—H 1,766 4,008 2,625 599 8,998
Charge for the year RERMG 1,360 1,198 375 872 3,805
Disposals & = (87) — (526) (613)
At30 June 2019 and WR-ZZE—AFSA=T1H
1 July 2019 RZE-h&EtA—H 3,126 5,119 3,000 945 12,190
Charge for the year RERMG 1,139 1,383 = 2,310 4,832
Disposals HE (1,903) (643) = (81) (2,627)
Exchange differences ER — (16) — — (16)
At 30 June 2020 R-_ZE-_ZFEXA=1+H 2,362 5,843 3,000 3,174 14,379
Carrying amount fRE{E
At 30 June 2020 R-ZZE-_ZF A=1+H 4,169 4,447 — 1,587 (10,203)
At 30 June 2019 RZZE-NEXA=1+H 2,280 3,654 = 3,956 9,890
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HE-—T-_TFAA=THIEFE

17.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

17. EHESE

2020
—E-FF
HK$'000
FHET
At 30 June: R7A=+8:
Right-of-use assets FEREEE
— Land and buildings — THREF 28,057
Lease commitments of short-term leases FEHEE 2 HERE 714
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flows, AEEZAKBIIRI[ERE
of the Group’s lease liabilities is as follows: ZHEAERHBE ST
LU
— Less than 1 year — LR E 5,067
— Between 1 and 2 years — 1524 3,090
— Between 2 and 5 years — 2E5%F 10,216
— Over 5 years — HBIBSEF 17,194
35,567
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets CTREEENERX
— Land and buildings — T REF 5,144
Lease interests HERE 993
Expenses related to short-term leases HEHEEAMEMAX 3,052
Total cash outflow for leases HERS L ERE (4,207)
Additions to right-of-use assets RNEERAEEE 31,562

The Group leases various land use rights and land and
buildings. Lease agreements are typically made for fixed
periods of 1 to 19 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants and the leased assets may not be used as security

for borrowing purposes.

TERREREEERAR
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HZ—-F

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. {EME
Car parking Industrial
spaces properties Total
S TEYE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
Fair value AR{E
At 1 July 2018 RZZE—NEtH—H 200,000 77,866 277,866
Change in fair value NREEE — 2,299 2,299
Exchange difference BE 3, = 2R — (3,124) (3.124)
At 30 June 2019 and 1 July 2019 R=T—hFA=+H
E_E-hFtA—H 200,000 77,041 277,041
Change in fair value DNHhEEH (10,000) (5,322) (15,322)
Exchange difference [ 5 =% — (2,717 (2,717)
At 30 June 2020 RZZEZTFA=1H 190,000 69,002 259,002
The car parking spaces are situated in Hong Kong and held FEAMREDS  UPEBHEERE -
under medium term lease. As at 30 June 2020, the fair R-ZZB-_ZTFENA=+H"  BEAMZ
value of the car parking spaces is approximately RN # {E # £190,000,000% T (= &

“EFERA=THIERE

HK$190,000,000 (2019: HK$200,000,000), which was arrived
at on the basis of a valuation carried out by ARM Appraisals
Limited, an independent professional valuer. The fair value is
based on the direct comparison approach under fair value
measurement level 2.

— jL £ : 200,000,000 7T)

DER:-& 5

ST EEH{ERMARM Appraisals Limited
BT ZEEREEEN - ARNEIR

BERLEER

H o
ZAr

A

BFF 8% &Gt

The industrial properties are situated in the PRC and held
under medium term lease. As at 30 June 2020, the fair
value of the industrial properties is approximately
HK$69,002,000 (equivalent to RMB62,900,000) (2019:
HK$77,041,000 (equivalent to RMB67,700,000)), which was
arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out by ARM
Appraisals Limited, an independent professional valuer. The
fair value is based on the market approach for land and
replacement cost approach for buildings and structures

under fair value measurement level 2.

As at 30 June 2020 and 2019, the car parking spaces with
amount of approximately
HK$190,000,000 (2019: HK$200,000,000) were pledged to a
bank to secure banking facilities available to the Company.
A deed of assignment of rental income from the car parking

aggregate carrying

spaces was executed in the favour of the bank.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 HZE_ZT_T &

19.

NA=TBEIEFE

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS

19. $MEE

Standing

timbers

RIFEHA

HK$'000

FAT

At 1 July 2018 RZE-N\FtLtH—H 348,933

Change in fair value less costs to sell N EZERHEE KA (72,769)

Exchange differences E & =% (13,175)
At 30 June 2019 and 1 July 2019 R=%Z— NERA=THERK

—hE+tH—H 262,989

Change in fair value less costs to sell ’\/‘* “@Jﬂﬂj’%ﬁﬁizﬁ (4,814)

Exchange differences E & =% (9,416)

At 30 June 2020 R-_E-_FEXA=+H 248,759

The Group’s biological assets represent standing timbers on
plantation land of approximately 30,000 Chinese Mu with a
lease term of 30 vyears, expiring in 2038. The standing
timbers comprise mostly poplar trees (accounting over 99%
of the total standing timbers), mixed with a very small
portion of other species of deciduous trees such as elm and
willow. During the years ended 30 June 2020 and 2019, the
Group did not harvest or sell any standing timbers.

The Group's standing timbers as at 30 June 2020 were
independently valued by Roma Appraisals Limited (“Roma”)
which comprises a group of independent professional valuers
with experience and expertise in relation to biological assets
valuation. Their team consists of professional valuers and
agricultural experts who work together in a wide array of
biological assets to ensure the reliability and fairness of their
valuation results. Accordingly, the directors are of the view
that Roma is independent and competent to determine the
fair value of the Group’s biological assets.

THRREEREBEBRAF

REE 2 Y E E RN #I30,0009
BB EE T i E R - %
B BEBRI0F  RZT=N\F
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% 2 5K 4R £ AR AR R BO9% ) - B
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 B EZE—ZT-TF SA=+HIFE

19.

116

BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Roma has adopted a market approach for the valuation of
standing timbers. The method uses the present market value
in terms of price per unit cubic meter of round logs and the
total merchantable volume of timbers on the plantation land
as at 30 June 2020 as a basis for calculating the fair value
less costs to sell of the biological assets. Roma has adopted
the measured merchantable volume of standing timbers as
indicated by the forest manager of the Group and also
verified the market price per cubic meter of logs by
referencing to the market price lists, after taking into
account of local timber manufacturing factories as well. The
principal assumptions adopted are as follows:

1. no material changes in the existing political, legal,
technological, fiscal, economic conditions, climate and
any other natural condition; and

2. the movements of the price of the timber, the setup
fee and maintenance fee for tree plantation will move
in line with the price index of forestry product in the
PRC.

The valuation technigues used in the determination of fair
values as well as the key inputs used in the valuation
models are disclosed in note 6.

Nature risk

The Group's revenue depends significantly on the ability to
harvest wood at adequate levels. The ability to harvest on
the plantation land and the growth of the trees on the
plantation land may be affected by unfavorable local
weather conditions and natural disasters. Weather conditions
such as earthquakes, rainfall, underground water, fire,
disease, insect infestation and pests are examples of such
events. The occurrence of severe weather conditions or
natural disasters may diminish the supply of trees available
for harvesting on the plantation land, or otherwise impede
the Group’s logging operations or the growth of the trees
on the plantation land, which in turn may have a material
adverse effect on the Group’s ability to produce the
products in sufficient quantities and a timely manner.
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 # Z=—

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

ToTEAASTALEE

20. BILEE

Exclusive
Operating distribution
rights rights Total
KEE BROHE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET FET
Cost A
At 1 July 2018 R-_ZE—N\E+tA—H8 149,454 24,115 173,569
Exchange differences & & =% (5,952) = (5,952)
At 30 June 2019 and RZZE-—NERNA=THRK
1 July 2019 —E-hFtH—H 143,502 24,115 167,617
Exchange differences fEH =5 (5,166) — (5,166)
At 30 June 2020 RZZE_ZEFA="TH 138,336 24,115 162,451
Accumulated amortisation ZFHE#E R {EEE
and impairment losses
At 1 July 2018 R-ZZE—N\FtH—H 47,743 66 47,809
Amortisation for the year F A iH 4,831 789 5,620
Impairment loss recognised 4 A 2 R EE 1B
for the year = 17,185 17,185
Exchange differences PE 5 =58 (1,949) — (1,949)
At 30 June 2019 and RZZE-—NFAA=THEK
1 July 2019 —E—NA&FtHA—H 50,625 18,040 68,665
Amortisation for the year F 4,660 206 4,866
Exchange differences E N =% (1,872) = (1,872)
At 30 June 2020 RZE_ZTFAA=TH 53,413 18,246 71,659
Carrying amount iR H {E
At 30 June 2020 RZEZZTFA=+H 84,923 5,869 90,792
At 30 June 2019 RZZE—NFASNA=+H 92,877 6,075 98,952
FRIRBERESEERAR ZETE-FTFEFH 117 ¢
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For the year ended 30 June 2020 B EZE—ZT-TF SA=+HIFE

20.

118

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The operating rights relate to the favorable aspect of the
right to use and operate the plantation land of a subsidiary
of the Company. The subsidiary was acquired in the year
ended 30 June 2009. The intangible assets are amortised
using straight-line method over the useful life of 30 years
and the remaining useful life is 18 (2019: 19) years.

The exclusive distribution rights relate to the exclusive rights
to distribute and sell products associated with the golden
flower tea business in the PRC for a period of 30.6 years.
The exclusive distribution rights are amortised on a straight-
line basis over the useful life of 30.6 years and the
remaining useful life is 28.5 (2019: 29.5) years. The Group
carried out reviews of the recoverable amount of its
exclusive rights during the year ended 30 June 2019 as a
result of the deterioration of the markets of the Group's
products. These assets are used in the Group’s segment of
sales of golden flower tea products. The review led to a
provision for impairment loss of HK$17,185,000 recognised
in profit or loss during the year ended 30 June 2019. The
recoverable amount of HK$5,869,000 (2019: HK$6,075,000)
has been determined on the basis of the value in use by
using discounted cash flow method (level 3 fair value
measurements). The discount rate used was 13.5%.
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GOODWILL 5
HK$'000
FAET

Cost (DN
At beginning and end of reporting period WEBYRER 1,087

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at
acquisition, to the CGU that are expected to benefit from
that business combination. The carrying amount of goodwill
had been allocated to the CGU of trading of motor vehicles.

Impairment testing of goodwill
Trading of motor vehicles CGU

Goodwill is tested for impairment for this CGU by the
management by estimating the recoverable amount of the
CGU based on value-in-use calculation.

As at 30 June 2020, the value-in-use calculation uses cash
flow projections based on the financial budgets approved by
the management covering a 5-year period. Key assumptions
used by the management in the value-in-use calculation of
the CGU include budgeted revenue and gross profit margin.
The pre-tax discount rate used for estimating the value in
use is 13.5%.

The assumptions have been determined based on past
performance and management’s expectations in respect of
the motor vehicles trading in Hong Kong and the PRC.

The management is not currently aware of any other
probable changes that would necessitate changes in its key
estimates. No impairment loss has been recognised for the
year ended 30 June 2020 (2019: Nil).
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INVENTORIES 22. B8
2020 2019
=SB “T-AF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Finished goods LK in 22,804 23,165

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

23. FEMCARFR R H fth FE W SR IR

2020 2019
—T-F¥E —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Trade receivables JE U BR SR 46,800 43,075
Less: provision for impairment loss of & : & W& BR 2R (5 &5 18
trade receivables B (8,062) (2,725)
38,738 40,350
Prepayments, deposits and other AN RIE R R HEME
receivables W R IE 29,121 24,890
Less: provision for impairment loss of & : TEf KB « & &
prepayments, deposits and H th fE W 5K IE
other receivables B B 18 e (1,000) —
28,121 —
Total it 66,859 65,240

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on
credit. The credit terms generally range from 30 to 90
(2019: 30 to 90) days. Each customer has a maximum credit
limit. For new customers, payment in advance is normally
required. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its
outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by the directors.
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. FEWBRFR B H fh B MG R IE (48)
(CONTINUED)
The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the FEWERRIEEZBH 2RE 2T (2
invoice date, and net of allowance, is as follows: HMBEE 0T -
2020 2019
—E-FF ZE-NF
HK$000 HK$'000
F#ET FHTT
0-90 days 0E90K 14,609 19,293
91-180 days 91£ 180Kk 9,463 16,560
181-360 days 1812360k 14,144 3,664
Over 360 days i #E360K 522 833
38,738 40,350
The movement in provision for impairment of trade EWERBEREEESHNOT:

receivables is as follows:

2020 2019
—E¥E —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Balance at beginning of year F 4R 2,725 —
Impairment loss recognised BRERBEEE 5,337 2,725
Balance at end of year F R 8,062 2,725
Impaired trade receivables were mainly due from customers ERERKEREEREREFHR
with long outstanding balances and the management of the HAREEESR MASEBTEERE
Group considered the recoverability is remote as the related AEKMHE  BEBEEFP BRI HE
customers were in financial difficulties or have prolonged HARAELEER - NEBE W EHZ
delay in repayment. The Group did not hold any material ERARBEEMNERERR -
collateral over those balances.
The movement in provision for impairment of prepayments, AR - R R H R IERE
deposits and other receivables is as follows: BEZSOT
2020 2019
—E-EE —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Balance at beginning of year F ) 4 8 — —
Impairment loss recognised ERRBEEE 1,000 —
Balance at end of year FIR AR 1,000 —

Y /I
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TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23. FEWBRFR B B fh FE MG R IE (48)
(CONTINUED)
The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to KEEERBBMB®E LR FE%R
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected TR 77 7A - IR P A B IR
loss provision for all trade receivables. To measure the MERBHEERE  FRBARER
expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped BE -RTHERMEEES  BIK
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past EREREARNESEREE L E
due. The expected credit losses also incorporate forward HRESETHE - BHEEEBEENTE
looking information. FERIEEER -
1-90 91-180 181-360  Over 360
days past days past days past days past
Current due due due due Total
EE [=F:8- =38 [=F:8
& 1E90X 91F180% 181E360X #Bi#360% @zt
At 30 June 2020 R-ZB-%§
~A=tH
Weighted average MEFHEHEREX
expected loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 94%
Receivable amount FEREE(TAT)

(HK$'000) 13,918 10,153 13,980 165 8,584 46,800
Loss allowance (HK$'000) fiE#EE (FHET) — — — — (8,062) (8,062)
At 30 June 2019 R-B-h&

~A=tH
Weighted average MEFHBERERE =

expected loss rate 0% 0% 0% 56% 0%
Receivable amount FERESE(THAT)

(HK$'000) 18,637 17,149 2,459 4,830 — 43,075
Loss allowance (HK$'000) fBiE#EE (FET) — = = (2,725) = (2,725)

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers who have no recent
history of default and have kept good track records with the
Group. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances. Based on past experience, the management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect
of these balances as there are no significant change in their
respective credit quality and the balances are still considered
fully recoverable.
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24. LOANS RECEIVABLE

4. FEUEF

2020 2019
—E-EE —E—hF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FAT
Loan receivable, secured EWE K - A IEHE 1,000 1,000
Loans receivable, unsecured e E ZX oo 41K 14,888 22,092
Loan interests receivable, secured EWREZFE - B EIF 1 1
Loan interests receivable, unsecured  JEUW & X Fl & - & 2,299 1,873
18,188 24,966

Analysed as: DT
Current assets mEEE 14,808 18,692
Non-current assets IEMBEE 3,380 6,274
18,188 24,966

The loans granted are interest bearing at 9%—20% (2019:
9%-20%) per annum. The loan period is generally 1 to 39
(2019: 1 to 36) months. Loan receivable of approximately
HK$1,000,000 (2019: HK$1,000,000) is secured over watches
(2019: watches) owned by a borrower. The directors of the
Company monitored the collectibility of the loans receivable
closely with reference to their respective current
creditworthiness and repayment records.

The ageing analysis of these loans and interests receivable,
based on loan commencement or renewal date set out in
the relevant contracts, is as follows:

ERZEFZRFHNEI%NE20% (ZF
—NE 9% %E20% )it o BRI
—BARIE3IN(ZZE—NF : 1536) @
A o U E 7K #91,000,0008 7T (= &
— L4 : 1,000,0007 7T) A f& 3k A BB
B2FH(ZZT—NE: FH)EK
e RARNAIEZL2EHMAE AIEA
EREBZRDN  BYEREREZN
AT [ 1 e

RIEABEOHEIINERFIAREE
BEMZEFE R R EKA AR DT
m

2020 2019

—g-%% -F-hf%

HK$°000 HK$°000

FHRT BT

0-90 days 0£90K - 17,943
91-180 days 91£180K 306 —
181-360 days 181£360K 11,654 6,653
Over 360 days it 38360K 6,228 370
18,188 24,966

TERREEREBBERAR Z—T-TEFRH
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LOANS RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED)

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected
loss provision for all loans and interests receivable. To
measure the expected credit losses, loans and interests
receivable have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit
losses also incorporate forward looking information.

24. FEUGE R (&)

REBEEBEBYEREERESR
BN 7% - MR A EUE R
RAENERNBEREREE  ZHE
HEEBR - RTHAERAGERS
B BREEFEANECREXRNGE
ERBRBHANARREETHIM B
HEEERTBREAELEER -

91-180 181-360  Over 360
days past  days past  days past

Current due due due Total
B By [=F8
B 91ZE180X 181F360X  #Bi@360K @t
At 30 June 2020 R-BZ¥E
~A=1H
Weighted average expected METLHESRERR
loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0%
Receivable amount (HK$'000)  EW & (TiET) 12,622 113 — 5,453 18,188
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BEER(TETL) - — — — —
At 30 June 2019 R-ZB-h%
~B=1+H
Weighted average expected MEFHEHEEX
loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0%
Receivable amount (HK$'000)  JEM & % (F5T) 18,944 = 5,652 370 24,966
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BEEE(TETL) = — — — —

The receivables that were past due but not impaired relate
to independent borrowers that have good track records with
the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that no provision for
impairment loss is necessary in respect of this balance as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and
the balance is still considered fully recoverable.

B8 BB KRB 2 BB S RER
SEBRFEALEZBIERA °
RENEESR  AARESRSAR
ZEBRLYBEEREEEXEH A NG
AR 2 HRE - BEAL AR IE D
R B R -
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INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 25. RAREFANERZRE
PROFIT OR LOSS
2020 2019
—E-TE —NEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong, R & £ 2 %A &
at fair value BARE 1,696 4,883
The fair value of the listed equity securities was determined FHRAB S 2 AR ETIRBEREE
based on the quoted market bid prices of the corresponding MRABHFHNMBTISEEBABET -
listed equity securities.
REFUNDABLE SECURED DEPOSIT 26. JRECHEARS
The Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement and AEBE-EZBUE=ZFTR_Z—=
a supplemental agreement on 27 November 2013 and F+—A-+tHRZZE—=F+=
16 December 2013, respectively, with an independent third B+7xB 2RI B & s &/ 7T
party in relation to the acquisition of 100% equity interest EONRERAREEERARRENE
of a target company and its subsidiaries which are mainly NAEZ100% R ARz - HEZ R
engaged in hotel operations in the PRC (the “Proposed ?ﬁé%@)ﬁ%i‘%(f@%%ﬁ%?lﬁﬁ o
Acquisition”). On 23 December 2013, an amount of R-_ZE—=%F+-_HA-+=H ' &&
HK$150,000,000 was paid by the Group as refundable & % {4150,000,0007% Jt © {E A& 7] &
deposit. The refundable deposit was charged over the entire BRe N-_E—NFE~A=1+H8H"
issued share capital of a Hong Kong subsidiary of the target ZENERERSEHEERR—HE
company and was classified as secured deposit for BB AR 2EE BITRAER
acquisition of subsidiaries as at 30 June 2014. | WD ERRWENE QR 2 ER
BeE o
According to the Company’'s announcement dated BEAARBBHA-ZZE—NETA
28 October 2014, the Group and the vendor entered into a ZHNBZAM NREBEEEFEL
termination agreement to terminate the Proposed RiEp@EARIEEZWESEE AR
Acquisition because certain conditions precedent of the ERWEEE S TRREGERRE
Proposed Acquisition were not satisfied. Pursuant to the B o IRIBAR LW ANEBEE S
termination agreement, the Group and the vendor agreed EARERSKBY -—HRETASE
that the refundable deposit shall be refunded to the Group B BEISHERZZT—NOE+—AH
by three installments including HK$60,000,000; +H -ZE—AF—A=+ttAR=
HK$45,000,000; and HK$45,000,000, repayable on TR FWMA=-F+ttHEZE
10 November 2014, 27 January 2015 and 27 April 2015, 60,000,000/ 7T ~ 45,000, OOO/%T_E&
respectively. The first installment of HK$60,000,000 was 45,000,000/ 7T ° $z§ 7 EEA
received by the Company on 7 November 2014. —OE+—A B KEE -8R
60,000,000/ JT °
FEREBEEREBERAR ZTZTFEFR 125 ¢
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NA=TBEIEFE

REFUNDABLE SECURED DEPOSIT (CONTINUED) 26. T[RECIKIFIRE ()
According to the Company’s announcement dated 18 June BEARABHAZZT—RF A
2015, the Group and the vendor entered into a TNBZRM NREBEEFFI Y —
supplemental termination agreement to amend certain terms MRS - ARBRERTAIR
of the termination agreement relating to the refund of the BESEBIRILEDEZETHER R
remaining refundable deposit. Pursuant to the supplemental BRAKRLEGZE A5EEEE 5 H
termination agreement, the Group and the vendor have Foof2 T AT R B &K &£(8 &
agreed that the remaining refundable deposit shall be 20,000,000 7T % 70,000,000/ JT &
refunded to the Group by two installments including H?;zif'JYS%quﬁﬁZﬂ B) 5 i Ef
HK$20,000,000 and HK$70,000,000, together with interest RETAEER HARZZT—HEFR
as calculated at 5% per annum, repayable on 18 June 2015 A+N\R &:gfﬁiﬂ'*ﬂ +hB
and 19 November 2015, respectively. The second installment B - AEEER_ZT—HF A
of HK$20,000,000 together with interest was received by the + )\ B # % 5 — B3 I820,000,000/%5
Group on 18 June 2015. During the year ended 30 June TLERFE - RBEZZT—/\FA
2018, the Group received deposit refund of HK$58,000,000 =T HIEFE  AEBEKBIZSRK
together with interest income of HK$2,000,000. The deposit 58,000,000% Jt & [ # & 4 A
of HK$12,000,000 was overdue as at 30 June 2020 (2019: 2,000,000 L - R —_ZE —FF X A
HK$12,000,000). =+ H % ©12,000,000% 7T 2 % H
(ZZ — L% : 12,000,000% 7T) °
The directors of the Company are of the opinion that no $’&ET§$E7JF% CHRAEERER
provision for impairment loss is necessary in respect of this SHERROETEERAREY
balance as the Group obtains collateral from the vendor of ET§1—JL§EE}§$§E B bt 5 78 Bt Ut 4
which the estimated value is sufficient to cover the BRI EEIERT IR -
outstanding amount in case of default.
TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 27. FEfTRRFR R H fh FE 4K IE
2020 2019
—E-EE —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAET
Trade payables FE - BR 3R 4,480 2,160
Other payables and accruals H fth & 5 TR IR Ko & 5 KR 27,243 22,303
31,723 24,463
The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the date of ERERZRKE B2 RE DT
receipt of goods, is as follows: T
2020 2019
—EB-EE —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$°000
FHERT FAT
0-90 days 0Z90K 4,371 2,059
181-360 days 1812360k — 50
Over 360 days B @360k 109 51
4,480 2,160
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28. LEASE LIABILITIES 28. HHE&E&®’
Present
Lease value of lease
payments payments
HEfF=R HEfFRRE
2020 2020
—EZEE —EZEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFi#&T Fi#ET
Within one year —FR 5,067 4,085
In the second to fifth years, inclusive 2 -ZFERHF
(PREEREMF) 13,306 10,267
After five years h & 17,194 16,043
35,567 30,395
Less: Future finance charges B RARBEER (5.172)
Present value of lease obligations HEEARE 30,395
Less: Amount due for settlement 12 A MBI B EE
within 12 months (shown /TAIE(B?'J/TB’\\/ALEJJ
under current liabilities) AEET) (4,085)
Amount due for settlement after 1218 B & B BR & E 3k 18
12 months 26,310
At 30 June 2020, the average effective borrowing rate was AZEZTFAA=+H FHER
3.78%. Interest rates are fixed at the contract dates and EEFEAE3.78% R EKRE % B H
thus expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. R A AKBEEE AL ERE
[7 Bz o

VB -
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BORROWINGS AND BANK OVERDRAFTS . BERRIRITEX
2020 2019
=t B i “T-AF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Bank loans IRITE K 26,000 22,000
Shareholder loan EERE R 1,500 —
Bank overdrafts RITHE X 3,679 —
31,179 22,000

As at 30 June 2020, the bank loans and overdrafts were
secured by the car parking spaces with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$190,000,000 and a deed of assignment of
rental income from the car parking spaces (note 18).

The shareholder loan is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on or before 24 February 2022.

The bank loans are repayable on demand or within one year
and charged at 2.5% (2019: 1.5%) per annum over the
applicable HIBOR. The bank overdrafts are repayable on
demand and charged at the bank’s prime lending rate.

The effective interest rate at the end of the reporting period
was 3.26% (2019: 4.03%).
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30. DEFERRED TAX 30. EEHIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities are as follows: BB IEEBEZESHT
Fair value
adjustment
on
biological Operating
assets rights Total
EYHAEZ )
AR ERE gEE “st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 July 2018 RZE-—N\FtH—H 87,233 25,428 112,661
Credited to profit or loss for the AR IB2EING (H:£11)
year (note 11) (18,192) (1,208) (19,400)
Exchange differences e =% (3,293) (1,001) (4,294)
At 30 June 2019 and RZE-—NAFRA=+TBRK
1 July 2019 —E-NFtH—H 65,748 23,219 88,967
Credited to profit or loss for the FRPE K (F7£11)
year (note 11) (1,203) (1,166) (2,369)
Exchange differences ME ¥, Z 5 (2,354) (824) (3,178)
At 30 June 2020 W—_TE_TF~A=1AH 62,191 21,229 83,420

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of HK$94,969,000 (2019: HK$86,236,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the unused tax
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams of
the respective group entities. Included in unrecognised tax
losses are losses of approximately HK$7,520,000 (equivalent
to RMB6,855,000) (2019: HK$10,456,000 (equivalent to
RMB9,188,000)) that will expire in 5 years from the year of
origination. Other tax losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

THRREEREBEBRAF

RMEHR  AEBRBAHIEEIR
94,969,000 T(= T — h F:
86,236,000/ JT) A] ¥ §5 7K 2K )& F
e ARBRAEFSEEER R K R
R - B 4 B ok B) A B OB 18 R
REXEHRBEEE - st AKERHIBES
B H) 518 497,520,0005 7T (FHE R A
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31.
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SHARE CAPITAL 31. k&
2020 2019
—E-FF —T-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Authorised: SESE
15,000,000,000 ordinary shares of B MEE0.02E L2
HK$0.02 each 15,000,000,0000% & i % 300,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRAE :
2,036,538,114 (2019: 2,036,538,114) &R HE{E0.02/% 7T 2
ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each 2,036,538,114% & i@ ix
—E-hEF:
2,036,538,1148%) 40,731 40,731
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 32. Ui BERENFR
Equity-settled share option scheme DIRHESE Z BT 8

The existing share option scheme of the Company was
approved on 11 November 2015 (“Share Option Scheme”)
(the 10% general limit under the said share option scheme
has been refreshed pursuant to a resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 11 November 2015). The purpose
of the Share Option Scheme is to provide the Group with a
flexible means of giving incentive to, rewarding,
remunerating, and/or providing benefits to the participant
and to provide the participant with the opportunity to
acquire a personal stake in the Group and to build common
objectives of the Group and the participant for the
betterment of business and profitability of the Group and its
shareholders as a whole.

The Board of Directors may, at their discretion, invite any
participant to take up options. An option is deemed to have
been granted and accepted by the grantee upon his or her
signing the duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the
option and paying HK$1 by way of consideration for the
grant thereof.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited

2020 Annual Report

ARRBRITEEREFEN _F—0%F
T—A+—BEE(EREE]D
(RBEXARIR_ZE-—HF+—A
T-HABETHRRBFAREEAR A
Pl B3 48 O R % 22 5B R ALl O i A A
AEIM10% — MR ER) - BB A #EET 2
EEERAEENBEE A M2 EER
TRE RE W2 R/ RREHE
Mo ARG T2EERAEEREE
AR HE  URAKBEESEE
ZHEBIARBFRE  UhEAKEZ
EBRBNENTREARRERE
{8 -

SFEenRERETMN2EEENE
PRHE - IR ARE —AMHD R TER
BEREZ KGRI MBTIEAER
EiREsREE BRESHEAE
B R AR AR o



For the year ended 30 June 2020 B EZE—ZT=_TFSA=+HIFE

32.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

The subscription price for shares in the Company under the
Share Option Scheme will be the highest of (i) the closing
price of the shares in the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date (which
date must be a business day); (ii) a price being the average
of the closing prices of the shares in the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii)
the nominal value of a share of the Company.

The total number of shares in the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
total number of shares in the Company in issue as at the
date of approval of the Share Option Scheme. An option
may be exercised during a period to be determined by the
directors in its absolute discretion and in any such period
shall not be longer than 10 years from the date upon which
the option is granted.

The maximum entitlement for any one participant is that the
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant under the
Share Option Scheme in any 12-month period shall not
exceed 1% of the total number of shares in issue of the
Company. Any further grant of options in excess of the 1%
limit shall be subject to shareholders’ approval in general
meeting with such participant and his or her associates
abstaining from voting. The Share Option Scheme will
remain in force for a period of 10 years from the date upon
which the option is deemed to be granted and accepted.

THRREEREBEBRAF

32.

PAR% 15 B B 8 B 19 3% (48)
URESH 2RIk &8 (&)

RIZBIE S - NARRMDRIEE
BARUTNEHEZERE (MREBK
BERWAREER)EBXAEAR
BRERMBARFRMDKHE ()
EREEREEANOEL XA
R RERMBARA RN K HE
B FIME  Ri)ARRIRMDEE -

RIZE R & M AR AR E MR
Petgat 8IS TR 2 2 BRI A T
EmA#ETcARBRM AR &K
TRBANIERBREFIEBAR
AR BT AABNI10% - BRAER
REZEEBBET 2 HRAITE
HEEABERT AEHMETSER
BRER L A HIR10%F -

RIEBRES ER—K28EHL
T+t —EARBAETESSEE
BREREMBETES TEIT RN
BBRSEE  TREEARADHE
TR 1%  #—FRHEBEE1%
REE 2 A - AR BRNIRR RS
B MZzE2EEREBEANG
FLULIR R - BE AR AT B0 BB AR A AR
AR REHZ BHEF 105 HMH
B -
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32.

132

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

Details of the movements of share options are as follows:

32. LIzt B & 6809 1K (8)
AR HE 45 B 2 R AR T B ()
A ESE 2 HEMT

Number of share options

MBS E
Balance as at Lapsed
1 July 2018, during the
Exercise 30 June 2019 year ended
price per and 1 July 30 June Balance as at
Grantees Date of grant Exercise period share 2019 2020 30 June 2020
R-ZT—\&
tA—-8"
—¥-NnE
~A=T+HR B=E
Z¥-NE "B-F¥E NR-E-¥E
tA—H RA=+H ~A=+H
RAIEA RHBEH TR BRITEE ZER LEEEXRY Z &R
HK$
BT
Executive Directors 22 April 2016 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 0.2064 42,428,451 — 42,428,451
WITES —T—RF —T—AFmNA=+=HZE
mMA=+=H —E-ARFWMA=Z+—H
Executive Directors 5 June 2018 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 0.3170 9,900,000 = 9,900,000
RHITEF —ZE-N\F —E-N\FXARBEZE
~NAEA —TZN\EXAMEA
Chief executive officer 22 April 2016 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 0.2064 14,142,817 == 14,142,817
TR —E-RE —E-REEAZ+TZHZE
mA=+=H —E-ARFMAZ=+—H
Chief executive officer 5 June 2018 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 0.3170 2,800,000 = 2,800,000
T AEE —E-N\F —E-N\EXAABZE
~NARH - N\FEXAMA
Independent non- 5 June 2018 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 0.3170 3,000,000 — 3,000,000
executive directors
BUFANTES —E-N\F —E-N\FXARBEZE
NAEA T NEXAMA
An employee 22 April 2016 22 April 2016-21 April 2026 0.2064 14,142,817 == 14,142,817
—%EE —E-RE —E-REEAZ+TZHZE
mMA=+=H —E-ARFMA=+—H
Employees 5 June 2018 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 0.3170 18,800,000 (100,000) 18,700,000
B8 —E-N\F —E-N\EXAABZE
~NARH - N\FEXAMA
Consultants 5 June 2018 5 June 2018-4 June 2028 0.3170 20,400,000 (20,400,000) =
B [ —E-N\#F —E-N\EXAHERZE
~NARA ZZE-NFAAMA
125,614,085 (20,500,000) 105,114,085
Weighted average exercise price (HK$) 0.2547 0.2426

1T EE CET)
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32. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 32. iz B & A 45K (88)
Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) DIR#ESH ZBIRES S (&)
The fair value of share options was calculated using the BREZAREBENER_BHAEER
binomial pricing model. The inputs into the model are as REGE - ZBE 2B ABBEAT -
follows:

Date of grant 22 April 2016 5 June 2018
—T—-RE¥ —E—N\Ef
R BaH mA=+=H 7~AAH
Stock price (& HK$0.198 HK$0.315
0.198% 7T 0.315/ 7T
Strike price 1TfE(E HK$0.2064 HK$0.317
0.20647% 7T 0.317% 7T
Historical volatility FE 2R 1R 96.86% 47.82%
Contractual life & HFH 10 10
Risk free rate = 2 b M) 1.311% 2.125%
Dividend yield A% B A K 0% 0%
Early exercise multiple RETHEEH 2.8 2.2-2.8
Exit rate per annum FmA = 22.92% 0%-27.32%
Expected volatility was determined by calculating the TEEDR R DRBE ARG RENBE T
historical volatility of the Company’s share price over the FreRELRBOGFEMEE - ZER
previous 10 years. The expected life used in the model has FrAZ AT FHERERER &&E
been adjusted, based on the Group's best estimate, for the T AR EE - TERGIRITA
effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and EAEMERITETIARAE-

behavioural considerations.

V/m -
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33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 33. ZFEHERERZMH:EE
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Disposal of subsidiaries (a) HEMBAT
Net assets at the date of disposals are as follows: REEBHNEEFENT :
2020 2019
—EEE —E-AEF
HK$’000 HK$000
TF#ET FHT
(notes (i) & (ii)) (note (iir)
(B &£ (i) R (ii) ) (1 #£ (i) )
Prepayments, deposits and other FEftZIE - & & &k
receivables H fth e W ZR I8 — 12,751
Net assets disposed of BEHEEEFHE — 12,751
Total consideration BB — (12,900)
Gain on disposals of HEMNB AR WS
subsidiaries — (149)
Net cash inflow arising from HEEAMBE S RAFE
disposals:
Cash consideration received BUWIRE KE — 12,900
Notes: Kt -
0) On 6 May 2020, the Group disposed of all of its shares in (i) N-ZE-_TFER[NE KEEH
Elise Company Limited and Goodland Union Limited for a B i &Elise Company Limited &
consideration of HK$16. Goodland Union LimitedZ 2 &8

Betn - RER16ET °

(i) On 22 June 2020, the Group disposed of all of its shares (ii) R—_BE-_ZEFXA=-_+=8"
in Reward Pinnacle Limited for a consideration of HK$8. K B 2 H EReward Pinnacle
Limitedz 2 & & 5+ KB &8

BT ©
(i)~ On 21 June 2019, the Group disposed of all of its shares (i) RKRZZE—AF~<A=-+—8"
in Bright Race Limited for a consideration of AN £ B 2 W EBright Race
HK$12,900,000. Limitedz 2 R H -  RE R

12,900,000/ T ©
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33. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 33.
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

GEBERERZHE(ER)

METHELEZEEEZS

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b)
activities

TRITNFAREEREED
EEXCzABEED:

The following table shows the Group’s changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities during the

year:
Total
liabilities
from
Lease financing
Borrowings liabilities activities
MMEFEHELE
B RiEEfE ZHEAEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FH& T FAT
At 1 July 2018 RZZE—N\FLHA—H — — —
Changes in cash flows BeEREe2H 21,286 — 21,286
Non-cash changes RS E
— interest charged — BEAE 749 = 749
— interest payable — BNDEREMERN
reclassified as SRIE ) FE R B
other payables (35) = (35)
At 30 June 2019 RZT—-NF
~NA=+H 22,000 = 22,000
Changes in cash flows Hehe® 4,527 (4,207) 320
Non-cash changes FIREEE
— recognition upon — RYBERE BT
initial application 5 A Bl 551657 B
of HKFRS 16 R = 2,973 2,973
— additions =1 = 31,562 31,562
— interest charged — BEr A 973 993 1,966
— exchange differences — [EH =% = (926) (926)
At 30 June 2020 R-ZE—ZFF
NA=1H 27,500 30,395 57,895
y /B
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 34. A AT ZHBKR AR R EE
COMPANY AND RESERVES

() FABZMBRAR

(a) Statement of financial position of the

Company
2020 2019
—ECZEE —E—NF
HK$000 HK$'000
TFi#&T THE T
Non-current assets EREEE
Investments in subsidiaries RB AR ZKE 11 11
Current assets RENEE
Prepayments, deposits and other FEftZTE « & & Kk E &
receivables Q] 484 999
Due from subsidiaries & UG BT /B A &) A 300,058 381,156
Cash and cash equivalents RekFRKELHEE 127 678
300,669 382,833
Current liabilities REAE
Other payables H b FE (< 5RIB 7,729 7,555
Due to subsidiaries LN ENGIE @] 1,515 453
Borrowings & 3K 29,679 22,000
38,923 30,008
Net current assets RBEEFE 261,746 352,825
Total assets less current WEERTHAR
liabilities 261,757 352,836
Non-current liabilities EREBERE
Borrowing f& 3K 1,500 —
1,500 =
NET ASSETS BEFH 260,257 352,836
Capital and reserves BEXRGEE
Share capital &% < 40,731 40,731
Reserves i 219,526 312,105
TOTAL EQUITY RS A 260,257 352,836

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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—EERA=THIEFE

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(b) Reserves of the Company

(c)

3. EABIZMBRARREHE

(&)

(b) FAEIfME

Share-based
Share compensation

Accumulated

premium reserve losses Total
Bt ik EAR B BN & fit 4 RitEHE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
At 1 July 2018 RZE—N\F
+H—H 1,210,501 15,843 (490,679) 735,665
Loss for the year FEEE = = (423,560) (423,560)
At 30 June 2019 R-ZZT-hEF
NAZ=1H 1,210,501 15,843 (914,239) 312,105
At 1 July 2019 RZE—NF
tH—H 1,210,501 15,843 (914,239) 312,105
Loss for the year FEBAE = — (92,579) (92,579)
Share options lapsed B 2K 28U J% 7 — (3,213) 3,213 —
At 30 June 2020 R-_TE_TF
~NA=1+H 1,210,501 12,630 (1,003,605) 219,526
Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group () FEEREBEZHERAR
(i) Share premium account (i) KRPBRER
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman BEFAEFSAAE K
Islands, the funds in the share premium account RARMBERZEST
of the Company are distributable to the DR FARRABALE - HERT
shareholders of the Company provided that REEEEZDIKKRE B
immediately following the date on which the Hi1& - KRR Al EE497E B
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the BEEBAEREEINNAE
Company will be in a position to pay off its 18 °
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.
(i) Statutory reserve (i) EEGEE
In accordance with the relevant regulations of the RIEFREBEER ﬁ’t\‘:F‘
PRC, the group entities established in the PRC Bl v EEERAKE
are required to transfer a certain percentage of Tt ) 2 Bk B 18 5 F) (40
the profit after tax, if any, to a statutory reserve. B)EBEEEAERE &
Subject to certain restrictions as set out in the BTHEBERMECET
relevant regulations, the statutory reserve may be RHEIVERLT  AERE
used to offset the accumulated losses, if any, of AAEEHEEEER 2R
the group entities. AEEnE) -
FRREEREEBERAT Z—F_FTEFR

Y I\ W
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(c)

Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group
(Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the difference between
the capital injection made by the Company over
the nominal value of the registered capital of the
PRC subsidiaries.

Share-based compensation reserve

Share-based compensation reserve represents the
fair value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options granted to directors
and employees of the Group recognised in
accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for equity-settled share-based payments in note
3.

Foreign currency translation reserve

Foreign currency translation reserve comprises all
foreign exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set out
in note 3.

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

138

The Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities
at 30 June 2020 and 2019.

China Environmental Resources Group Limited

3. EABIZMBRARRHE

(
(c)

i

35. HARERE

\
)

FEERBIHERAR

(%)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

BEXfim

BARBEARANIAZ
B Erp EME AR W
BAEEZHENER -

B 15 BM <& 1

Befn B < & B te 2 AR B 3L
A RAEE RN SER
MR HAZ &
AR BRAAREE
EREERBZER MG
AABBZRITERREZ

AV IR
o BE 5 4% f#

SMNER MFE R ERIRES
INEBH B MERMEEZ
PREELER - BRAMFHE
RIE I FE3FTE 2 & 5T IR
RERIE
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B=+tBHBY¥ETMEARAERE -
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36. COMMITMENTS 36. KiE
As at 30 June 2019, the total future minimum lease RZE—NAFRA=Z1+H  A£ER
payments of the Group under non-cancellable operating BRAHHGCEHERREN 2 &K
leases are payable as follows: MERMNK@ENT :
2019
—E-NEF
HK$'000
FAT
Within one year —FR 5,685
In the second to fifth years inclusive FE_FRZFREF
(BREERMF) 912
After five years & 512
7,109

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the
Group for office premises. Leases are negotiated for an
average term of 1 to 3 years and rentals are fixed over the
lease terms and do not include contingent rentals.

In addition, a subsidiary of the Company has contracted to
use and operate certain plantation land with an initial lease
term of 30 years with annual concession fee payable of
RMB30,000. The amount is recognised as right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities at 1 July 2019 upon the initial
application of HKFRS 16.

THRREEREBEBRAF

REMENRTEAEERBREEME
AxftzMe HELER  FHHE
A E3F HEAZHEHE/EE -
BETERzAEE -

AN KRR 2 — KB AR E &L
BHFERARKEETEE LM 15
A A30F ERNFERTEAAA
R¥30,000c c Z e BN T —NF
+tA—HEXERRBYEREER
FloHM R AFRAEEERTEES
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37.

140

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. AEALTRXS
(a) In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed (a) BRZEHRE M RRE M
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, DEB IR RERINF
during the year, the Group entered into the following A SEEFTZ AT EKNBEE
material related party transactions. ALRS e
2020 2019
—g=8& —F-NF
HK$'000 HK$’000
TER FHT
Rental paid (note (a)) BENBEE W iZE) 2,116 2,113
Sales to a related company m—EEEAREE
(note (b)) (HtiEmb)) 28 2
Purchase from a director, Mr. B ESFIEEBEERE
Yeung Chi Hang (note (c)) (B it(c)) — 2,000
Notes: M &t -
(@)  Rental were paid to a company in which the mother of Mr. (@ MHEEINTFARANTE
Yeung Chi Hang (“Mr. Yeung”), an executive director, F ERFTHREBZIREER
Chairman and Chief Executive Director and a substantial EREEEE(HBEEN 2T
shareholder of the Company, has 50% indirect equity BIEAS0%EERAETEH A
interest. A e
(b)  Goods were sold to and purchased from a company whose (b) M—EAREERE—BAF
director is the spouse of a director of the Company's HKEER ZRAREZTALD
subsidiary. AMBAR —REEZEM-
() On 28 June 2019, BAC HK Limited, an indirect partly-owned © RZZE—NAFXA=ZTAB:
subsidiary of the Company entered into a sale and N ) B R AR D B 2 O BT
purchase agreement with Mr. Yeung in respect of the B A RIBAC HK LimitedE #3145
purchase of a classical vehicle for trading purpose from Mr. EEVEE W NDEH
Yeung at a consideration of HK$2,000,000. LA {82,000,0005% 7T B 15 5t 4
BELTHRTHEEERS -
(b) Key management personnel remuneration (b) EEEEASHM

Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s
directors and all the highest paid employees, is
disclosed in note 13.
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38.

PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at

30 June 2020 are as follows:

38. AABEEMBAEIFR

NA=tH XRAExX

RZZEZZF
EMBARZFABHT :

Name of the subsidiary

Place of
incorporation/
registration

Issued and

paid-up capital

Percentage of
ownership interest

Principal activities

MEBASEHE ML HMbE ERTRATER FA#EESLL ETEEHR
Direct Indirect
BE fel 4
Grand Diamond Investment Hong Kong HK$1 100% — Provision of money
Limited lending services
EEREERRAA EE 18T RIEEERSB
International Richway Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% — Provision of
management
services
BEREMRERAA BB 10,0007 7T REEERY
Mega Choice Holdings Limited The British Virgin Us$1 100% = Securities trading and
Islands investments
RERZHE 1%£7T EHEERKRE
Prima Choice Limited The British Virgin us$1 100% — Investment holding
Islands
RERZHS (E REZER
Harvest Top Development Hong Kong HK$10,000 — 100% Property investment
Limited
HAZRAERAH & 10,0007 7T MERE
BAC HK Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 90% Trading of motor
vehicles and related
accessories
& 10,0007 7T BETEREREST
FERBEEREBERAR ZFTZFTEFEFR

Y /B
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38. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 38. AT EMEB AT (&)
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

142

Name of the subsidiary

Place of

incorporation/
registration

Issued and
paid-up capital

Percentage of
ownership interest

Principal activities

ME AT &8 ML MR ERTRUCTER FiA#EE DL ETEEH
Direct Indirect
HE Gk
Power Asia Motorsport Hong Kong HK$10,000 — 90% Trading of motor
Company Limited vehicles and related
accessories
0 10,0007 7T BEEAEREBREY
FILSIEMEER A A The PRC HK$600,000 = 100%  Plantation related
business
G 600,000 7T BEAEEY
REARMMKERAA The PRC HK$77,000,000 = 80%  Property investment
a2 77,000,000/ 7T MERE
CER Ho Wun Motors Limited Hong Kong HK$100 — 51% Trading of motor
vehicle accessories
IFEEERRARA B8 10078 7T BERERMNG
CER Motorsport Limited Hong Kong HK$100 — 60% Provision of services
related to motor
vehicles
BB 100/ 7T RETERBRS
FBEEBSERAR The PRC RMBS5,500,000 = 100%  Sales of golden flower
tea products
i A K #5,500,0007C HESTEREM
Peak Environmental Resources Hong Kong HK$7,000,000 — 100% Trading of recycled
Limited metals
RERREXERAF N 7,000,000/ 7T BEEOREE

China Environmental Resources Group Limited
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38. PARTICULARS OF THE PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

39.

38. XA EEMBATFIRE)

Place of
incorporation/ Issued and Percentage of
Name of the subsidiary registration paid-up capital ownership interest Principal activities
MEASEE MR RN ERTRARER FE#E S ETEEH
Direct Indirect
HE Gk
EBEE (ORI BREMAT  The PRC = = 51%  Trading of motor
vehicle accessories
H BEERERMG
Waldo Kingdom Private Nepal NPR129,072,000 = 100% Hotel business
Limited
==L 129,072,000 BEEE

ERRmE L

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on

30 September 2020.

TERREREEERAR

39. BAZEEMBRR

REMBRER=_T_ZTFALA=T
AEESgmBYRERT-

/-
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Five-Year Financial Summary

AFEMBEHE

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the AN&EEY FRAEATFHFENEENREEN
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the BEZBMEHN T AR HHEE T
published audited financial statements and reclassified as FZEBZUBREX TR BEEBRL =

appropriate, is set out below. rofae
RESULTS For the years ended 30 June
EHE BERNB=1HLFE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

ZEZEFE —E-hEFE ZE-N\F ZE—LtF —T-—RF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAL FEL FHET FTHET

Turnover BERE 75,406 119,387 212,276 13,971 13,365
Loss before tax BrBi Al B 1B (56,782) (139,131) (205,061) (38,442) (86,937)
Income tax credit TS % 1,008 17,991 44,475 9,238 16,704
Loss for the year FEEE (55,774) (121,140) (160,586) (29,204) (70,233)
Other comprehensive (loss)/ Z b2 (E#E) /

income WA (12,423) (15,886) 17,830 (6,852) (36,979)
Total comprehensive loss & 2 & B A%

for the year (68,197)  (137,026) (142,756) (36,056) (107,212)
Total comprehensive loss LT A £ & ik &£ &

for the year 2EBREE

attributable to:
Owners of the Company AR al#EE A (67,610)  (137,774) (142,235) (34,582) (106,935)
Non-controlling interests  JF#% B #E 25 (587) 748 (521) (1,474) (277)

(68,197) (137,026) (142,756) (36,056) (107,212)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES As at 30 June
BEERARE R7AA=+H
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

“B%F —TNF B\ —T—tHF —_FT—RHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET THET TET THET

Non-current assets FERBEE 641,280 656,233 767,728 882,423 835,087
Current assets MEEE 121,118 129,531 152,106 152,136 200,491
Current liabilities mEAE (73,436) (50,868) (24,218) (20,613) (17,234)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (111,230) (88,967) (112,661) (181,295) (164,324)
Net assets BEFHE 577,732 645,929 782,955 832,651 854,020
Attributable to: DT ALTREW:

Owners of the Company ZAZRR#EHE A 565,158 632,768 770,542 819,724 854,306
Non-controlling interests  3F#2 B # 25 12,574 13,161 12,413 12,927 (286)
Total equity HEEE 577,732 645,929 782,955 832,651 854,020
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